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Tuesday, April 12, 2005

--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today to hear evidence relating to the application from Union Gas regarding changes to its M16 rate.  This matter has been given Board file number EB-2004-0542.

With me today are Board Members Paul Sommerville and Pamela Nowina.  For the record, my name is Paul Vlahos.

May I have appearances, please, and when you do so, just go slow, a name and affiliation, so that the reporter can put it down correctly, and same here, as well.

APPEARANCES:
MR. CRAWFORD:  Mr. Chairman, my name is Crawford Smith, from Torys.  And I am here as counsel on behalf of Union Gas.  With me, on my right, is Michael Packer from Union Gas, and on my left is Bryan Goulden from Union Gas, as well.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

MR. BUDD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Board.  My name is Peter Budd, with Budd Law.  And I'm representing Tribute Resources Inc..

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Budd.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Michael Janigan.  I'm representing the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  And with me is Joyce Poon.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, Panel.  My name's Randy Aiken.  I'm a consultant with Aiken & Associates, and I'm a consultant on behalf of the London Property Management Association and the Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

MR. DeROSE:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Vince DeRose, and I'm counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association.

MR. VLAHOS:  Welcome, Mr. DeRose.  You've been here before, Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  Yes, I have.  I believe, before Mr. Sommerville.

MR. VLAHOS:  It was a good experience.

MR. DeROSE:
Very good.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's good.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  For me, anyway.

MR. VLAHOS:  Anyone else?

MS. PAULUS:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Joanie Paulus.  I'm here representing Northern Cross Energy.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Anyone else?

MR. ROWE:  Yes.  Good morning, Panel.  I'm Robert Rowe, R-O-W-E, with Enbridge Gas Distribution.

MR. ROSS:
 I’m Murray Ross for TransCanada Pipelines.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Anyone else from the back there?

There being no response, Mr. Lyle?

MR. LYLE:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Mike Lyle.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  And with me from Board Staff is James Wightman.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Lyle.

Some administrative matters first.  We'll be sitting full days, except this Wednesday.  This Wednesday we'll commence at 1 o'clock p.m.  There are other commitments that this Panel has, Board commitments.

We'll be breaking for -- okay.  I'm advised that Friday -- just one second.

[The Board confers]

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  I stand corrected.  On Friday there is another hearing that is going on in the afternoon, so we'll be sitting only in the morning.  We will be breaking for lunch at about 12:30, so that you can make your arrangements, meetings, et cetera.  And morning -- there will be morning and afternoon breaks when we sit full days.  We will hear the evidence filed by Union Gas first, to be followed by the evidence filed on behalf of intervenors.

In terms of order of cross-examination, we're quite flexible.  Whatever works.

In terms of argument, we will deal with that matter as we get closer to the end of the oral proceeding, whether it will be oral or written, and when -- the timelines on it.

So any preliminary matters Mr. Lyle, or applicant?

MR. LYLE:  Not that I'm aware of, Mr. Chair.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Chair, members of the Panel, there are two very small preliminary matters.

There's one minor correction to the evidence, and just -- that's at page 20 of the pre-filed evidence.  There's a schematic of Union's gas flows on its system.  And there's been a slight change to one of the -- well, there's been a reversal of the direction of one of the arrows.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Smith, just give us a second to turn it up.

MR. SMITH:  Yeah.  It's figure 2 -- it's page 20 of Exhibit A.1, tab 1, Mr. Chairman.

MR. VLAHOS:  I have that and my panelists have that.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you will see at the bottom, figure 2, there's an arrow -- a white arrow for the Bickford line pointing left.  That arrow should be pointing right.

And the final matter -- that we've distributed and marked as Exhibit E, if that's acceptable, Mr. Chairman, copies of the curriculum vitaes of the members of the witness panel that I will be calling in a minute.  And copies of those have been provided to all of my friends and to Board Staff.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  Thank you.  We have that.  It does have an exhibit number, so we don't have to give it another one.

Okay.  Anything else?

There being none, Mr. Smith, are you ready to present your panel?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, before I do that, if I might just make a brief opening statement.

This, as the Panel is aware, is an application for an order pursuant to section 36 of the OEB Act for an order varying the rate charged to M16 customers, those being embedded storage operators.

The application came about as the result of a directive from the Board in Union's most recent rate -- full rate case, which was the 2003-0063.  And that directive is set out at the first page of the pre-filed evidence, being Exhibit A.1, tab 1.

And Union was directed to review the cost causality associated with Northern Cross's storage operations, with special emphasis on the allocation of storage costs.  Union should take into consideration the reduced level of service and the ability of storage operation to inject and withdraw at a different rate and time versus the service requirements of a pure gas consumer in its rate design.

The Board also directs Union to review the cost allocation and rate design applicable to distributed storage pools such as the Ashfield Pool, and submit such evidence as part of its 2005 rates application.

Now, as a result of matters that are referred to in the pre-filed evidence, the application is being brought now.  And you will see from the pre-filed evidence that, in the application, Union is proposing to change the M16 rate charged for firm transportation service, and to introduce an interruptible rate by varying the M16 rate schedule.

And the specific rates proposed by Union for the firm service -- for customers east of Dawn, the firm rate is 13.4 cents/gJ, and for customers west of Dawn, it's 17.8 cents.  And on an interruptible basis it's also -- sorry, on an interruptible basis the rate east of Dawn is 10.2 cents, and west of Dawn is 9 cents.

That's referred to at page 3 of the pre-filed evidence.

Now, in designing the rate, Mr. Chairman, and members of the Panel, Union considered, obviously, the directive.  It considered and sought, and received and considered feedback from M16 customers, both the existing customer, Enbridge, and potential customers, including Tribute and Northern Cross.

It bore in mind Union's own belief that economic storage development is good for the Province of Ontario, and that  -- and Union's belief that Union supports economic,   third-party storage development and its desire not to act as an impediment to that development.


And, most importantly, Union considered and bore in mind the principles that have been approved by this Board and that Union typically applies when setting rates, and those are postage stamp rate‑making, that rates are intended to generally recover allocated costs, and that there should be a contribution to facilities used.


And as I said, all of those principles are well established and have been confirmed by the Board, including most recently in the 0063 case that gave rise to this directive and ultimately this application.


And taking the factors into consideration, Union designed the rates that I have mentioned, and it's Union's position that the rate is as low as possible, having regard to the principles that the Board has enunciated, and there is not a lower rate that is consistent with those principles.


So, with that in mind, I then tender the Panel, if I may, and ask that the members of the Panel be sworn.


MR. VLAHOS:  Would the panelists please come forward and Ms. Nowina will... will do so.

UNION GAS LIMITED PANEL 1; BROEDERS, KITCHEN, POREDOS, LEGG:


MICHAEL BROEDERS; Sworn.


MARK KITCHEN; Sworn.


STEVE POREDOS; Sworn.
CHUCK LEGG; Sworn.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  The panelists are sworn, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith.


EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Broeder, I understand that you are the manager, product and services costing for Union?


MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have been employed by Union Gas since 1996?


MR. BROEDERS:  That is also correct.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you are a chartered accountant?


MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants?


MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you hold a bachelor of math degree from the University of Waterloo?


MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you've testified before the Energy Board before?


MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that was in the RP-2003-0063 case?


MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I also understand that you were involved in the preparation of the evidence found at Exhibit A1, tab 1?


MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And interrogatories and supplementary interrogatories prepared in connection with that evidence?


MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you adopt that evidence for the purpose of this proceeding?


MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kitchen, I understand that you are the manager of rates and pricing?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been in that position since 2002?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were the manager, product and service costing?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you held that position from 1999 to 2002?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And in that role, were you responsible for the preparation of Union's cost allocation study?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And in your role as manager of rates and pricing, do you remain familiar with the cost allocations?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you've been with Union since 1993?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And that you hold a masters of arts and economics from the University of Waterloo?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  And a bachelor of arts in economics and Russian studies from the University of Waterloo, as well?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you've testified before the Board on many occasions?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Including in the most recent rates case?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  And you were also involved in the preparation of the evidence at Exhibit A1, tab 1?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And the interrogatories and supplementary interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purpose of this proceeding?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Poredos.


MR. POREDOS:  Yes?


MR. SMITH:  You are the director of capacity management for Union Gas?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been in that job since 2002?


MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you've been employed by Union Gas for your entire working career?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Since 1980?


MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you hold a bachelor of applied science in civil engineering from the University of Waterloo?


MR. POREDOS:  That's also correct.


MR. SMITH:  And a bachelor of commerce, as well, from the University of Windsor?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you obtained those designations in 1980 and '92, respectively?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have also testified before this Energy Board on more than one occasion?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  And most recently in the 2003‑0063 proceeding?


MR. POREDOS:  That is correct.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Legg -- I'm sorry.  And you were responsible for the preparation of interrogatories or assisting in the preparation of interrogatories?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  In respect of the evidence at Exhibit A1, tab 1?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purpose of this proceeding?  


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Mr. Legg, you are the manager of distribution planning for Union Gas?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you've held that position since March 2002?


MR. LEGG:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you've been employed by Union Gas continuously since May of 1981?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you hold a bachelor of applied science and civil engineering from the University of Waterloo?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you obtained that designation in 1981?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, I did.


MR. SMITH:  And you have also testified before the Ontario Energy Board before?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  And that was in RP‑2002‑0001?


MR. LEGG:  That is correct.


MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that you were involved in assisting in the preparation of interrogatories and supplementary interrogatories prepared in response to questions on Exhibit A1, tab 1?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purpose of this proceeding?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  Now, Mr. Chairman, members of the Panel, I understand that it's the Board's usual practice for the applicant and the parties to rely on the pre‑filed evidence.  And, of course, as the witnesses have just indicated, they adopt that evidence, and Union does rely on it.


I would like to take just a few minutes with Mr. Kitchen in examination in‑chief.  This is a fairly focussed hearing and I think it might assist the members of the Panel and the Intervenors if I could just ask a few questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead, Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Mr. Kitchen, you indicated you were involved in the preparation of evidence at Exhibit A1, tab 1?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And if I could ask you to turn that evidence up, and, in particular, page 11 of that evidence.


MR. KITCHEN:  I have it.


MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me, sir, just briefly what this table depicts?


MR. KITCHEN:  The table provides the rates by component, along with revenue requirement and the associated revenues.


MR. SMITH:  And if I take by way of example, if you look at the left‑hand column, the first item, monthly fixed charge per station, what does that refer to?


MR. KITCHEN:  The monthly fixed charge per customer station refers to the costs ‑‑ or recovers the costs associated with the meter which Union maintains at the embedded storage customer station.


MR. SMITH:  And is -- that reference to the meter and customer station, is that what's found on the right‑hand column?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it is.


MR. SMITH:  So is it fair to summarize that on the left‑hand column, you have the various components of Union's rate proposal, and then on the right‑hand column you have the costs which are recovered?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And are those the components that are set out on pages 9 and 10 of your evidence?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they are.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  If I could draw your attention, Mr. Kitchen, to a reference on the right-hand side, to the letters UFG about for or five lines down.  Do you have that?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me what UFG stands for?

MR. KITCHEN:  UFG stands for “unaccounted-for gas”.

MR. SMITH:  And what is that?

MR. KITCHEN:  Unaccounted-for gas is the gas -- is, essentially, the accumulated measurement error, either between two meters, or associated with a single meter measuring at different times of the day at different flow rates.

MR. SMITH:  And on a global basis, can you tell me how UFG is calculated by Union?

MR. KITCHEN:  UFG is calculated, essentially, as the total gas measured into the system less the total gas measured out of the system.

MR. SMITH:  And has that methodology been considered by the Board before?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it has.

MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me when, and what were the results of that?

MR. KITCHEN:  The last significant review of UFG occurred in EBR0-499.  Union agreed in EBR0-494 to provide a study of UFG, which it filed in EBRO-499.

MR. SMITH:  And what were the results of that study?

MR. KITCHEN:  The results of the study were that the consultants confirmed Union's calculation of UFG, and that -- the allocation of that -- of the amounts associated with UFG.

MR. SMITH:  And were those consultants independent of Union?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they were.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that the study you referred -- you are referring to can be found in the evidence at Exhibit B.5.26?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it can.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

And Members of the Panel, there's no need to turn that up at this time.

But that is a study, am I correct, entitled:  "Unaccounted-for Gas Allocation Study, prepared by Harrington and Hrehor Energy Consulting Group LP?"

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And was there a follow-up to that study, Mr. Kitchen?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  The Board's decision in EBR0-499 found Union's allocation appropriate for setting 1999 rates, but they directed Union to further review whether or not emissions data could be used in the allocation of UFG.

We responded to the directive in RP-1999-0017, indicating, essentially, that the emissions data was not of sufficient accuracy to provide an allocator -- an allocation methodology.

MR. SMITH:  And was that response accepted by the Board?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it was.

MR. SMITH:  Now, we know from page 11, table 1, that 

-- and throughout the pre-filed evidence, that it's Union's proposal to charge UFG as part of the proposed M16 rates.  Can you tell me whether other rate classes incur UFG charges?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  All rate classes that contract on Union's system for service attract UFG.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So, by way of an example, perhaps, maybe you can just tell me how UFG is charged then, on another rate class.

MR. KITCHEN:  For example, ex-franchise customers.  If we take Enbridge transporting gas to their Tecumseh pool, they would attract UFG twice:  once for their movement westerly from Parkway and -- to Dawn, and an additional charge from Dawn back to Parkway.  Enbridge would not attract any UFG on the actual injection into their own pools, because they own the facilities that connect with Dawn from Tecumseh.

MR. SMITH:  And which rate schedule is Enbridge charged under?

MR. KITCHEN:  The M12 rate schedule.

MR. SMITH:  Now, under the proposal for rate M16 that Union has put forward in this application, will M16 customers be treated any differently than other rate classes?

MR. KITCHEN:  No, and M16 customers, in fact, will be treated exactly the same.  And in providing any -- not treating them the same would actually impart an advantage to them over other customers.

MR. SMITH:  Now, you were involved in the 2003-0063 case, in your role as the manager of rates and pricing.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you gave evidence with respect to [inaudible] rates.  Were the rates that were proposed and accepted by the Board in that case -- did they include UFG charges in them?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they did.

MR. SMITH:  And those UFG charges were charged and calculated in the methodology you've described will be applicable to M16?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they were.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kitchen, have you had an opportunity to review the evidence of Mr. Knecht?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I have.

MR. SMITH:  And I'll just read, if I might, a short passage from his evidence, which was prepared in response to an interrogatory.  You don't need to turn it up.

It indicates -- this is a response to Union interrogatory question 3A.  And the question asks:

"How, specifically, is Mr. Knecht suggesting that
Union's allocation of UFG change?"

And the answer begins:

"Mr. Knecht is attempting to resolve certain issues regarding his understanding of Union's current methodology for allocation of UFG costs, and therefore does not have a specific proposal for changing the generic methodology at this writing.  Based on Mr. Knecht's current understanding, his recommendation for this proceeding is that UFG costs be allocated to M16 customers for flows in one direction, only."

And I just ask you, Mr. Kitchen, if that is an approach to UFG which Union would support?

MR. KITCHEN:  No, it is not.

MR. SMITH:  And why is that?

MR. KITCHEN:  As I have stated earlier, UFG primarily arises from the accumulated measurement variance.  Direction has no bearing on -- direction of flow has no bearing on UFG.  UFG is attributable to contractual flows, as are all of Union's costs.

And second, I'm not even sure if it would be feasible to actually do what Mr. Knecht has suggested.  It would require Union to track each contract, and determine whether or not flows were counter or -- were physically moving in one direction, or they were moving in another direction, and then somehow recognized the UFG difference in the -- on each contract.

MR. SMITH:  Now, just for the purposes of this answer, I'd ask you to assume that you could, in fact, do what Mr. Knecht has suggested.

And if you know, if you could tell me what the impact of that suggestion would be across Union's rates?

MR. KITCHEN:  Eliminating flows in one direction would result in enfranchised customers seeing an increase in the amount of UFG recovered through those enfranchised rates.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Kitchen.

I have no further questions and would tender the panel, Mr. Chairman, for cross-examination.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Who would like to go first?  Mr. Janigan?  Are you ready to proceed?

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm ready to proceed, Mr. Chair.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. JANIGAN:

MR. JANIGAN:  Panel, I want to start first with the principles that were used for rate-making.  And in order to do so, I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit B.4.1.

And, on the second page of B.4.1, is set out the principles relied upon for designing the M16 rate.  And these were postage stamp rate-making.  Rates reflect costs.  And reasonable contribution to the cost of assets but not allowed -- but -- sorry, but not allocated.

Now, are these same principles applied by Union in the develop of all their other rates?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they are.

MR. JANIGAN:  And do you understand that these principles have been endorsed by the Board in prior decisions, when it approved the rates of Union?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  So, in effect, would you agree that what you have proposed for M16 is no different than what you've proposed for any other rate, in terms of rate-making principles?

MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And if the rules and principles for designing rates were altered for the M16 rate, do you believe that this could result in a problem for Union in the design of its other rate classes?

MR. KITCHEN:  The potential is there, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And do you believe that other customers in other rate classes might seek to have their rates treated in a special or different manner?


MR. KITCHEN:  I would expect that if we deviated from the principles, that that could happen, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if we could turn up in your evidence Exhibit A1, tab 1, page 8.  And in it, it notes that you had a consultation process with the embedded storage companies and received feedback from the embedded storage companies, and it lists six points on this page that were the essential points that these customers made to you in the course of that consultation; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I want to deal with the point with respect to number 1, which is:  "Embedded storage companies within Union's franchise area believe they provide benefits to Union's system operations." 


And to do so, I wonder if we could look at Exhibit B6.3, and this is an interrogatory from the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, which asks you to identify, in question A:

"Identify the benefits that Union has specifically streamed to the embedded storage companies as reduced rates for M16 service.  In addition, please explain how the lower unit rate for the benefits is determined to be appropriate." 


And B:

"Does Union identify benefits to each of its other rate classes and thus impute lower rates for those benefits?  Please discuss." 


Then your answer, it is noted, and I'll read the whole answer under A:

"In designing the M16 rate, Union has not streamed any benefits to the M16 service."


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Janigan, you have to slow down a bit, make sure we get every word down on the record.


MR. JANIGAN:  "Union's proposed rate for M16

transportation service recovers costs allocated to M16

customers and provides for a reasonable contribution to the

recovery of fixed costs related to facilities used to

provide the service, but not allocated to the service in

Union's cost allocation study."


Concludes:

"There are no material benefits to Union's customers resulting from embedded storage developments." 


So, with respect to your answer under ‑‑ in this interrogatory, it seems to conflict with the point that was made by the embedded storage customers.  Would you agree?


MR. KITCHEN:  That would be correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And further on that point, I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit B5.19.


This is an answer to an interrogatory from Tipperary Gas Corporation.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I have it.


MR. JANIGAN:  And in this answer Union indicates that it has sufficient firm capacity to meet design-day demands.  Is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  So, in Union's opinion, there is no design‑day demand benefits that the embedded storage customers provide?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.  Union cannot rely on the withdrawals of storage to provide design-day service to the Forest-Hensall-Goderich system.


MR. JANIGAN:  And, finally, in Exhibit B3.4 -- I wonder if you could turn that up.  It's an answer to an interrogatory from the London Property Management Association and the Wholesale Gas Services Purchasers Group.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And it indicates there that:

"In general, due to its relative size, the embedded storage developments addressed in the directive will not impact the quantity or the quality of storage and transportation transactional services available for Union Gas to market."


So in Union's opinion there, there are no S&T benefits, as well?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  So at least with respect to the benefits argument, these conclusions are part of why Union didn't stream benefits to the M16 rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.  And is it correct to state that Union does not attempt to assess for every rate class the unique benefits that it can provide and stream those benefits to them in the cost of the rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.  I would say that the only exception to that is the DCC, which is being eliminated as of January 1st, 2007.


MR. JANIGAN:  And that was one of the concerns why it was eliminated, I assume?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, just for the record, DCC?


MR. KITCHEN:  DCC is delivery commitment credit.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up page 8 of your evidence and looking at, once again, the points that were made by the embedded storage customers in the consultation.


One of the points they made was:

"The M16 rate should be more reflective of actual costs incurred in physical flows." 


Would you agree that this is similar to the issue that was disputed by the M13 customers in the RP‑2003‑0063 proceeding?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it is very similar.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the Board's decision on this issue is found on Exhibit A1, tab 1, page 16 of your evidence?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it is.


MR. JANIGAN:  And to summarize the Board's decision, a customer should not be charged on the basis of the physical flow of gas; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.  I think it actually says that they should not be given preferential treatment.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  And if the Board in this proceeding were to rule that Union should, in fact, set the rates for M16 customers based on the actual flow of gas, similar to what was desired by the M13 customers, do you believe that it may result in a problem for the M13 rate design?


MR. KITCHEN:  It may result in a problem for the M13 rate design.  It may also result in a problem for other rates, which are also based on contractual flows.


MR. JANIGAN:  And what are those other rates, potentially?


MR. KITCHEN:  The M12 rate class, for instance, contracts for Dawn to Parkway service, although gas physically doesn't actually flow, necessarily, to Parkway on design day.  It is actually served via east‑end deliveries.


Also, I suppose you could use C1 deliveries at St. Clair, which are actually used just to provide service to local markets, rather than flowing to Dawn.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in your evidence at Exhibit A1, tab 1, page 3, it's noted that the M16 service rate was designed not to impede storage development.  And, in particular, I'll refer you to the passage:

"Union has been guided by the view that it should derive a transportation rate as low as possible within Board‑established cost allocation and rate design principles."


In deriving the lowest rate possible within the Board's established cost allocation and rate design principles, what exactly did Union do to give the M16 customer the lowest possible rate?  


MR. KITCHEN:  It was probably -- there's -- in terms of the monthly customer charge, Union directly attributed those costs associated with the meter stations to the M16 rate class.  For the transportation commodity charge, we set a rate that represented the lowest unitized transportation rate on Union's system.  In terms of the demand charges, for customers east of Dawn, Union recognized that the use of the Dawn-Trafalgar facilities would only take place during summer in the off-peak time, and would only flow as far as the Stratford lateral.

We also only charged for fuel on injection.  And in the case of customers -- for customers west of Dawn, that meant directly assigning summer fuel, which is a change to the cost-allocation study.  And for customers east of Dawn, we charged the summer M12 rates that appear in schedule C of the M12 rate schedule.

MR. JANIGAN:  Panel, the M16 rate has the transportation cost in and out of storage for the embedded storage provider.  Does Union charged its bundled customers for the cost of transporting gas in and out of Union's storage pool, and embed it in the bundle rates?

MR. KITCHEN:  The service, just to clarify, that's charged to M16 customers is for transportation from Dawn to the pool, and from the pool back to Dawn, not actually for injection and withdrawal into the pool.

Do customers pay for the -- do bundled customers pay for injections and withdrawals?  Yes, they do.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, Mr. Smith dealt with the UFG issue.  I just have one question arising from UFG.

Could you explain what other factors cause UFG?

MR. KITCHEN:
The majority -- as I said, the majority of UFG is attributable to measurement variations.  UFG is also attributable to theft, leakage, and accounting -- I don't know what you would call it, I guess, “accounting discrepancies.”

Those, however, are small in relation to the overall size of UFG.

MR. JANIGAN:  Atmospheric pressure, I understand, also has an impact?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now I want to deal with the issue of the public interest and storage development in the public interest.  And to do so, I'd like you to turn up Exhibit A.1, tab 1, page 2.

MR. KITCHEN:  We have it.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in this exhibit you indicate that:

"Union confirmed its belief that storage development is good for the province."

And I assume that that in keeping with the concept supported by the Board in the RP-2003-0063 decision, with reasons, on page 158.  I don't know if you have to turn it up, but it's only one sentence:

"The Board accepts that the safe and prudent development of new storage facilities is in the public interest."

MR. POREDOS:  Yes, Union Gas supports development of storage because it is in the public interest.  Union Gas does not believe that other customers should pick up costs for that storage, however.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.

And Union, I assume, serves a lot of customers whose presence are in the public interest.  Would you agree?

MR. POREDOS:  Sorry, could you repeat the last part?

MR. JANIGAN:  Union serves a lot of customers whose presence is in the public interest.  It would be things like hospitals, schools –

MR. POREDOS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- social housing.  And I gather, from your answer to the first question, that the principles of cost allocation don't require a reduction or elimination of costs based on the fact that the presence of those customers is in the public interest?

MR. POREDOS:  I would agree with that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Right.  Now, in the RP-2003-0063 decision with reasons, it was noted that:

"Union should review the cost causality associated with NCE storage operations, with special emphasis on the allocation of storage costs."

Is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And is that what Union did?

MR. KITCHEN:  Union, in its analysis, used the demands associated with Tribute in its analysis, not Northern Cross.  And the reason we did that is we had a contract with Tribute.  The pools for Tribute and Northern Cross are very similar in size, and would not impact the cost allocation significantly, and definitely would not impact the rate.

In addition, we only have the ability to serve based on the existing facilities, which is also inherent in the analysis: one storage -- embedded storage provider in the Goderich area.  We did not look at storage costs because the service that is being contracted for by the embedded storage provider -- or developer, is for transportation service.  And since they're not using Union's storage, they're not allocated any of Union's storage costs.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.

Panel, I now want to look at the concept of incremental versus rolled-in rate-making, which I think has application in this proceeding.

And I want to start with asking you questions based on practical experience of Union with respect to construction of pipeline capacity.

As I understand, when Union builds pipeline capacity to serve a customer, there may be more capacity than what is required to serve that particular customer.  So there may be a degree of excess on a particular pipeline.  Is that correct?

MR. LEGG:  There may be a degree of excess in some instances.
  MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And to the extent that the capacity built is in excess of Union's -- of the Union customer's current needs, those costs for the total pipeline capacity are recovered from the existing customer?

MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent that those facilities would be rolled into rates, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So the existing customer pays a unit rate for the use of the system, and, in effect, in this circumstance, they'd be paying a higher unit rate, if the system is built in excess of the customer's current needs?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  The entire -- Union's entire revenue requirement is recovered through rates at the time.  So, if there is excess capacity, then conceivably there could be a higher unit rate.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So in a practical example, if Union needs to build a distribution lateral to serve customers, and you have four customers signed up that need 100 units, in total, but the smallest distribution lateral is a 15-inch pipe, and it happens to have the capability to bring in 125 units, as I understand it, the current four customers are required to cover the cost of the 15-inch pipeline, even though they are only using 100 units.

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if -- they don't get a discount because they're using 100 units, rather than the 125-unit capacity of the pipeline.

MR. KITCHEN:  No, they don't.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, because you have excess capacity on the system, this means that Union can  potentially serve an additional customer by incurring very little incremental cost.

MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And, in effect, the cost of the excess of the pipeline is being picked up by the existing four customers, in the event that the fifth customer, for example, was to pay only incremental costs.

MR. KITCHEN:  That is true.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in fact, what you do -- you don't cost in this fashion.  You, in fact, take all five customers, then, and divide the cost of the pipeline between all the customers, if a new customer comes on board?

MR. KITCHEN:  Once we reset rates?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the division of the costs by the five customers, the four original and the one new customer, is, in effect, in accord with the concept of rolled in rate‑making; would you agree?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And if you didn't carry out rolled‑in rate‑making and elected to only charge the fifth customer the incremental costs, let's say, for example, the meter at that customer's house, that would be incremental rate‑making?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And Union uses the principle of rolled in rates, not incremental rates?


MR. KITCHEN:  Union's rates are based on the principles of embedded rate‑making, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if excess capacity exists in more than one location in the Union distribution facility -- let me rephrase that.


Would you agree that excess capacity exists in more than one location of Union's distribution facility?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And there must be a number of distribution laterals on the Union system that could accommodate a new customer without causing additional pipeline costs to the system?


MR. LEGG:  Yes, there are some laterals that could accommodate additional customers, depending on the size of the customer that would be attaching to that lateral.


MR. JANIGAN:  Do you think that it would be correct to allow this new customer to use the public interest principle to submit that they should be charged an incremental rate rather than a rolled‑in rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.  Union would charge the existing approved rate schedule for whatever customer it was signing for service. 


MR. JANIGAN:  And, in fact, if new M16 customers obtained the service based on incremental costing, would this likely lead to other customers throughout the system asking for similar kinds of rates?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, the potential is there.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in Exhibit B4.1, an interrogatory from Northern Cross Energy Limited, it's noted that the TransCanada/Alberta system does not require storage providers to pay a toll.


Do you think that this is a reasonable precedent for this Board to rely upon to make a ruling that would not require M16 customers to pay a toll for the use of the Union system?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, I think as indicated in the IR, the approach may be appropriate on the NOVA system because the customers that are utilizing storage are also the shippers on the NOVA system.


In the case of Union's customers, they may not necessarily be the users of storage; in fact, the customers using the storage may be ex‑franchised to Union's system.


MR. JANIGAN:  So, in effect, the shipper that covers the cost of the pipeline are the same customers that use the storage development connections?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's our understanding, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in your discussions with Tipperary and Northern Cross, has the exact nature and extent of the in‑use storage market been revealed to Union?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure I understand the question.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, when you have discussed storage development with Tipperary and Northern Cross, have you been appraised of the exact amount of storage, the dollar values, what kind of customers are likely to pick things up, in any kind of detailed way with Tipperary or Northern Cross?


MR. KITCHEN:  Not in any detailed way.  There has been evidence filed by Tribute as to what they believe the value of storage to be.  And I think there's also been evidence by Tribute that the storage may be used by electrical generators.


MR. JANIGAN:  And what is the end‑use market of gas‑fired generation from this storage service?  Do you know?


MR. POREDOS:  I don't think we're aware of which power generator or which market this storage would be sold to.   We ‑‑ I don't believe that we had any indication of that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. KITCHEN:  Our discussions with the customer really focussed on the actual parameters around the pool, not necessarily who the customer would be or the value that they would get for the storage.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And thus Union does not have any guarantee that this M16 rate will be used by embedded storage developers to support gas generation?


MR. POREDOS:  The embedded storage providers can sell their storage to any customer.  We have no knowledge or guarantee they would go to power generation or an ex‑franchise customer or otherwise.  So we have no knowledge of that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Can this storage be used by an industrial or commercial customer within the Union franchise area?


MR. POREDOS:  In the way that -- in the way that we understand the service to be operated, the embedded storage volumes that can be burnt in the local area will be exchanged for equivalent volumes at Dawn.  So any enfranchised customer that, in fact, required incremental storage for whatever reason above and beyond what is allocated to them, they could buy that storage at Dawn.  


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if so, will Union be charging a commodity charge on the M16 rate that would imply that there is transportation provided from the pool to the Dawn delivery point?


MR. POREDOS:  That part of the contract would be the normal contract we have with the customer, the embedded storage customer.  We would not know who they're necessarily selling that storage service to.


MR. KITCHEN:  If I could just add, the service is for transportation to and from the pool, and the rate recovers that or deals with that.  And there is a commodity charge applicable to transport from the pool to Dawn that equivalent to UFG.


MR. JANIGAN:  Can they avoid that charge if they're serving someone ex-franchise -- sorry, enfranchise?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.


MR. JANIGAN:  And, once again, I understand that Union has not received the business plans of these potential storage operators to know what the financial and economic viability might be based upon certain rates?


MR. POREDOS:  No, we haven't.


MR. KITCHEN:  The business plan for Tribute, though, I think was filed as part of their facilities application.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, according to Exhibit B1.2, if the Board were to approve the M16 rate design, Union will review the M13 monthly charge and the usage of mileage‑based unit costs in the M13 commodity charges.


What is the likely impact to the M13 rate due to these changes, directionally?


MR. KITCHEN:  It's hard for me to speculate at this point, since we haven't done the review.


The reason we're reviewing the monthly customer charge is that we noticed that the monthly customer charge for M16 customers is at $525 per month, while the existing M13 rate is $347 a month.  We need to understand whether or not that difference actually makes sense.


In terms of the mileage-based charge, the M13 rate currently uses distance‑weighted ‑‑ bases the rate on the distance from the local producer pool to Dawn.  Given that we're moving away from distance in the design of the M16 rate so that we don't prejudice pools further from Dawn, we think it's appropriate to also review that for local producers.

I can't really comment on the magnitude of the impact at this time.

MR. JANIGAN:  I would assume that you would be reviewing the M13 rates in a way which would be consistent with the Board's decision on the M16 rate?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm going to deal with the capacity allocation, and in particular the issue of Northern Cross.  And I wonder if you could turn up the VECC IR response in B.6.1.

And, according to this response, Tribute has contracted all of the excess capacity on the Forest-Hensall-Goderich -- FHG system.  Is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in the event Northern Cross requires capacity for the Ashfield pool, who will be required to pay for the capacity expansion?

MR. POREDOS:  With the principles that Union uses in terms of addition of new capacity, NCE as the incremental customer coming on would pay the, A, the construction, if any, required to provide the facilities that they would require for their service.

MR. JANIGAN:  So will any of the existing customers of the FHG system pay for the expansion associated with the system?

MR. KITCHEN:  The existing facilities are only able to serve one pool.  To the extent that you added another 2 Bcf pool, there would need to be facilities built to provide that demand, and those facilities would only be there for that demand.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in the event that Ashfield decides to come forward to develop that, there will have to be an economic feasibility analysis conducted.  And to the extent that there is a need for a pipeline looping required to accommodate the Ashfield pool, the new customer, Northern Cross, would need to pay for an aid to construction cost to ensure that the project doesn't have negative rate implications for the existing ratepayers.  Would that be correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  Assuming that the approved rate is insufficient to cover off the capital cost, or the revenue requirement, associated with those facilities, then there would be an aid.  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is it correct that the process of a customer obtaining the excess on the basis of a first-come, first-serve, is a process that is carried out, normally, when any new customer enters the system, and that this treatment is no different than what is applied to any new customer?

MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.  In fact, the Board approved that process in EBO-188, I believe, in 1998.
  MR. JANIGAN:  And if this Board were to request that the excess capacity of the FHG system was to be shared equally between the two pools, the principles of EBO-188 would have to be amended.

MR. POREDOS:  Yes, we believe so.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are all my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

We'll continue for a few minutes, until our morning break.

Mr. Budd, would you like to go next?

MR. BUDD:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Chairman, just -- I'm happy to let Mr. Budd go ahead.  I will have a very short

cross-examination, and I'm going to be closer to Union's position than Mr. Budd's position.
Mr. Budd may wish to cross-examine after I do, given our position.

MR. VLAHOS:  You intend to leave town, Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  No, no.  No, no.  I simply don't want Mr. Budd to feel that I'm going after him and sandbagging him in any way.

MR. BUDD:  I'd never think that.

MR. VLAHOS:  Well, as I said, we're going to be flexible, but -- you know, it's not particularly critical as to what position you may take.  So Mr. Budd, I will leave it to you whether you want to go now, or wait for Mr. DeRose.

MR. BUDD:  The only other consideration, Mr. Chairman, is that if my friend is going to ask his questions and then leave, that's more efficient for his time –

MR. DeROSE:  No, no.  I'm not.

MR. BUDD:  -- I'm happy to stand down.  Otherwise I'm read to roll.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Go ahead.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUDD:

MR. BUDD:  Thanks.

Good morning, panel.  I'm the counsel, as you probably heard at the outset, that is acting for Tribute.  And I've got probably an hour of questions for you in the areas of flows, cost allocation, and UFG.  And then rate design.

And I’d like to start on the area of physical flows and ask you if you could turn up the Exhibit A, tab 1, page 20 of 45, that I think you were kind enough to hand out again this morning.

MR. KITCHEN:  Okay.

MR. BUDD:  Now, I think if we look at this diagram, we can see the Forest-Hensall-Goderich, or “FHG” system line in the top in figure 1.  You of course, know that.  You see that?

And with embedded storage relative to the current situation, would you agree with me that more gas flows from Dawn to the FHG system in the summer, and less in the winter?  And that's with the embedded storage that's proposed?

MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUDD:  And indeed, no incremental pipeline capacity is going to be required to flow that gas in the summertime once that pool is developed; is that right?

MR. POREDOS:  In today's world, that's correct.

MR. BUDD:  Okay.  And the peak winter flows on that Dawn to Stratford segment of the Dawn-Trafalgar line, those should theoretically be reduced, as well, during the winter; correct?

MR. POREDOS:  The flow from Dawn to Stratford in the winter would be less, as long as the pool is providing volumes into the Stratford area.

MR. BUDD:  Correct.  Okay.  Thank you.

And so, with embedded storage in Union's franchise area, we could agree - could we not? - as long as the system is operating, and is reliable and built to standards to which you're satisfied, that Union will need less gas and storage in the winter to meet in-franchise needs?  In other words, our system works, it operates.  You should not need as much gas and storage to handle that because we're going to have gas up there, in the area, for use up there when it's needed.

MR. POREDOS:  The storage to Union would not change, since Tribute, to my understanding, is selling that storage to a third party, and I'm not aware who that would be.

So there is no incremental storage for Union.  We still have the same amount of storage.

MR. BUDD:  And I'll take your point on that.  And that’s -- and your point -- my point on that is accurate, because that's, at least, in part, because the embedded storage operator is either displacing some other customer, as you’ve just said, or the embedded storage operator is adding winter volume at Dawn that’s looking for an 

ex-franchise market.

MR. POREDOS:  You may -- you're adding storage at Dawn, basically, for some customer that wants to buy at Dawn.  You’re not displacing any of Union's storage, so to speak.

MR. BUDD:  And would you agree with me that, as we've just discussed, our system works together, as that does, that Union has the potential to earn additional revenue?

MR. POREDOS:  Union doesn't believe that there is additional revenue to be earned.

MR. BUDD:  Okay.  Now I'd like to turn to the area of cost allocation, and in particular, to the area of unaccounted-for gas.  And if we could just turn up Exhibit A.2, schedule 3, please.

And I'd like to first direct your attention to the column marked "revenue requirement" -- "proposed revenue requirement".

And could we agree that most of the costs that Union allocates to the M16 customers east of Dawn are UFG costs, which you'll see at the bottom –

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.  I agree with that.

MR. BUDD:  -- of the chart.

And the costs east of Dawn are about half the $13,000 per meter, you see that up at the top, plus the 2000, 64,000, and 51,000 items in the lowest section; correct?


MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.


MR. KITCHEN:  Those are the costs allocated in the cost study, but for reasons in the evidence, we have not allocated certain costs, because the facilities weren't built to provide design-day services.


MR. BUDD:  And the $51,000 is all UFG; is that right?


MR. BROEDERS:  That is correct.


MR. BUDD:  And the 2, I think I've asked already, was for system integrity?


MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  And of the $64,000, about $44,000 is UFG; is that correct?


MR. BROEDERS:  That is correct.


MR. BUDD:  And so, as for the costs for customers east of Dawn, this is really largely about UFG.  Can we agree on that?


MR. KITCHEN:  It's a significant portion of your costs, yes.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Now, I'd just like to turn to reviewing the causes of unaccounted-for gas.  And if you could please turn your pre‑filed evidence to page 30 of 45.


MR. BROEDERS:  Did you say 30 or 3?


MR. BUDD:  3‑0, 30.


MR. BROEDERS:  Thank you.


MR. BUDD:  Now, at this reference, Union indicates that UFG is primarily related to metering discrepancies.  Would that be right?  


MR. KITCHEN:  That is what the evidence says, yes.


MR. BUDD:  But the Radian report, which is found at Exhibit B5.26, attachment 2, page 4, paragraph 2, we'll all take a minute to get there.


MR. KITCHEN:  Could you repeat the page number, just so I can ...


MR. BUDD:  I sure will.  It's the Radian report, Exhibit B5.26, attachment 2, page 4, paragraph 2.


It's attached to a document, Mr. Chairman, dated May 17th, 1999 to yourselves, Messrs. Kitchen and Packer.


MR. KITCHEN:  What paragraph, sorry?


MR. BUDD:  Top left side, paragraph 2.


MR. KITCHEN:  Okay.


MR. BUDD:  The bold lettering says:

"UFG consists of many elements, only a few of which are real losses to the atmosphere."


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  So if we could just go through these together, there are four other causes.  And let's explore how a new M16 customer would contribute to these costs, okay?


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Mr. Budd, could you give the page reference again for that report?


MR. BUDD:  Yes.  It's page 4, top paragraph 2 of attachment B5.26.


MS. NOWINA:  The attachment to that report?


MR. BUDD:  Perhaps I could just read the sentence into the record, and then I'm going to explore that, Ms. Nowina, if that's acceptable?


MR. KITCHEN:  Before you do that, it is actually the response to the directive issued in the 017 case, not the 499 case, and that may be the confusion.  It's not as far in as the full document.


MR. VLAHOS:  How about we just read the paragraph into the record, Mr. Budd?


MR. BUDD:  Thank you, Mr. Vlahos.  The sentence that I'll focus on, which just identifies, for the record, the four areas which I'd care to explore, goes like this:

"Traditional UFG studies break all UFG into four major areas or causes:  1, Accounting; 2, Measurement; 3, Leakage; and 4, Theft." 


What I'll do now is I'll canvas those items with the Panel. 


If I could start with asking the Panel, in respect of the accounting losses, what causes accounting losses?


MR. KITCHEN:  There is a -- as you know, there are approximately a million customers on Union's system, and not all those customers are billed at the end of each month.  There is 20 cycles on which customers are billed.


As a result, there has to be unbilled adjustments done to --


MR. VLAHOS:  Please continue.


MR. BUDD:  Go ahead.


MR. KITCHEN:  These unbilled adjustments may generate a portion of UFG.


MR. BUDD:  All right.  And in respect of accounting losses, are these not more likely to be occurring due to lots of small customers and not one large customer like the 1.8 Bcf at Tribute?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I guess the first thing I would say is that we do not attribute UFG to customers.  It is a mass balance where we measure all of the ins and all of the outs.


The other point I would like to make is that to the extent that you have accounting adjustments, they may be positive or negative, and so attributing them to a specific customer is not appropriate and it's not what we do.


MR. BUDD:  Do you think at Union that Tipperary or Tribute will contribute to accounting losses?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  And then the second item in the Radian report identified as a contributor to these UFG causes is measurement.


Can measurement errors be negative or positive, as well?


MR. KITCHEN:  Measurement errors may be negative or positive, yes.


MR. BUDD:  And would you agree with me that measurement losses may balance out over the longer term?


MR. KITCHEN:  If you look at Union's history with UFG, we have had unaccounted-for losses as far back as I've ever looked.  I'm not sure that we are ever balancing out measurement losses.


MR. BUDD:  And do you have any reason to think that adding a meter on an M16 storage pool will result in a net cost or a net credit?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think that's irrelevant.  The fact is there is measurement, and to the extent that we are adding a customer, that customer should share in all of the UFG.  We don't take an incremental approach to recovering or allocating UFG.  All customers bear a similar burden, and all services and all flows are charged in respect of that burden.


MR. BUDD:  Well, let's turn to leakage.


Can we split this leakage category into a transportation leakage and a storage leakage?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I'm not sure that we can, because one of the things that the Radian report looked at is whether or not you could draw envelopes around our system, and they concluded that you couldn't without significant cost.


They also concluded that emissions were a small portion of any losses.


MR. BUDD:  Well, let's just say hypothetically, then, that we've got this ability to determine that there's a transportation leakage, and then a storage leakage.  So on a hypothesis basis, go with me on this, right?  For transportation leakage, is there any reason that leakage will be higher if the volumes are transported to the FHG system in the summer than in the winter?


MR. KITCHEN:  Again, the majority of Union's UFG, it's Union's position and it's supported by Radian, that there is measurement variance.  I can't say if there's any difference in leakage on that particular system, because we don't have metering to tell us that.


MR. BUDD:  But I think we could agree, could we not, Mr. Kitchen, that the same volumes are transmitted on the FHG line with embedded storage; that is, the transportation of volumes is the same in the summer as Union would have transported in the winter?  We could agree on that, could we not?


MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent that Tribute would be serving the Goderich system, yes, those same volumes would flow.


MR. BUDD:  And the FHG customers already, in fact, pay once for the transportation of those volumes; correct?  And the FHG customers?

MR. KITCHEN:  They pay in their delivery rates for the costs associated with Union's facilities.  And they pay UFG.

MR. BUDD:  Right.  Now, do you know if leakage losses are higher when the gas is being transported at higher pressures?  Or lower pressures?

MR. KITCHEN:  I do not know.

MR. BUDD:  Does anybody else on the panel have an intuition about that?  I'm looking for the rings on the fingers of the engineers.  Mr. Poredos?

MR. POREDOS:  Hypothetically, the higher the pressure, with the same leakage, you may get higher leakage.  The issue here, though, is activity, not the pressure nor the size of the leakage.  I think it's activity.  The more activity on the line, the more leakage you may have.

MR. BUDD:  Right.  And could we agree that pressures are lower in the summertime?

MR. POREDOS:  Normally, we -- and I'd have to turn to Mr. Legg to confirm the pressure on the Stratford line -- or the Goderich line, but normally we would try to run pressures as low as we could, at certain times of the year, just to reduce the pressures in the lines.

MR. LEGG:  On the Forest-Hensall-Goderich system, as it stands today, currently the pressures are operated somewhat lower in the summertime than they are in the wintertime.

With the addition of the embedded storage producer, those pressures would be virtually consistent year round, summer and winter.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Okay.

Now, for storage, in theory, Union has UFG costs associated with its own storage operations; correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry?

MR. BUDD:  Union has UFG costs associated with its own storage operations, does it not?

MR. KITCHEN:  Union has UFG costs for all of its operations.

MR. BUDD:  Would you agree with me that an embedded storage operator may have its own UFG storage leaks?  Isn't that a possibility?

MR. POREDOS:  Where the operator owns their own equipment on site, as would Enbridge or any other storage operator, yes, there is likely leakage within their own equipment or within their own yard.

MR. BUDD:  And then the final area is theft, as was raised in the Radian study.  Would you agree with me that that's not a likely scenario, that Tribute's going to be stealing gas from Union?

MR. KITCHEN:  Again, this is, this is all true.

MR. BUDD:  Right.

MR. KITCHEN:  I would never call Tribute a thief.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.

MR. KITCHEN:  But we do not take an incremental approach to determining who should pay what for -- in terms of UFG.

I can't -- it would be like trying to assign UFG thefts to a particular rate class.  I don't know if there is -- if UFG theft is applicable to any particular rate class; in fact, it may happen and it may not happen.  You may have a very honest group of customers out there.

MR. BUDD:  We'd like to be one of those.

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel, this may be an appropriate time for a break, if you're considering one.  I'm about to start a new area.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, Mr. Budd, it will be.  And we'll return in 15 minutes.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you, sir.

--- Recess taken at 10:58 a.m. 

-‑‑ On resuming at 11:16 a.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Mr. Budd, when you're ready.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Just before I start my next area, I just wanted to go back and ask you, at Union -- I'll try to paraphrase this accurately, in my own words.

Why can't you rely on the Tipperary or Tribute pool in terms of operations, if it is designed in a way that suits how you would have designed it, it works well and consistently with what your expectations are at the company?  Why should our system be any less reliable - you not be able to rely on it - than yours, had you designed it?

MR. LEGG:  Union has sufficient facilities to serve its customers until at least 2009.  If Union were to rely on the local storage, if there were any failure on the system, it would result in an immediate loss of customers on the Forest-Hensall-Goderich system.  So, based upon that, Union is not prepared to rely on local storage -- embedded storage producers as a security of supply.  That security of supply is not required until at least 2009.  We have adequate capacity on the system.  So there would be no additional benefit.

MR. BUDD:  So if we fast-forward to 2009, which would be sort of a turning point, I guess, would you then have to rely on the storage pool of Tribute?  And if so, what would be different in your approach?

MR. LEGG:  Before Union would rely on the embedded storage producers, we would look at the risks involved and we would want to consider a number of factors prior to relying on that embedded storage producer.  Again, with the failure of that system on any day, it would result in an immediate loss of customers and a safety issue on the Forest-Hensall-Goderich system.

MR. BUDD:  Okay.  Let's consider this scenario, then.  We've agreed on what equipment to put there in terms of a wellhead or a dehydrator or a line heater, and all the equipment that would be the same equipment that Union would buy, that Tribute would buy?  We could agree -- we probably could agree on that, could we not?

MR. LEGG:  I’m sure we possibly could, yes.

MR. BUDD:  This isn’t that complicated.  A piece of equipment on the top of the wellhead.  What if Union operated the Tipperary of Tribute facility?  Would you then rely on it?

MR. LEGG:  Well, it's not just equipment that we would consider when determining security of supply.  We would consider numerous factors.  Equipment redundancy is one.

Another one would be proven operating and maintenance capabilities of the embedded storage producer to operate and maintain the system on a daily basis, as well as for emergency response.

The other thing that we would consider before looking at it as a secure supply would be storage pool deliverability, the ability of that storage producer to deliver on the design day in the winter, when we needed it.

The other issue that we would consider -- or want to go through in consideration, would be gas quality from the embedded storage producer.

So there would be a number of factors that Union would want to review and consider before making the determination whether or not they could rely on an embedded storage producer on a design day.

MR. BUDD:  And let's just pretend that we have a design day, hypothetically, wherein, totally unpredicted, of course, you have a line rupture leading up to that storage pool.  And some customers may be off on that lateral on the way up there, but, in fact, the storage pool saves those customers.  That's a possibility, isn't it?

MR. LEGG:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUDD:  Right.  Okay.

In fact, if we had more storage around the province in the places where it exists, and it were developed, that would enhance security of supply in the Province of Ontario, would it not?  All things being equal, in terms of equipment satisfaction to Union?

MR. LEGG:  It may.  It would depend upon the local conditions of each system you were looking at.

MR. BUDD:  Understood.  Okay.  Thank you.

Now I'd like to turn to the issue of consistency between storage operators.

If I understand it correctly, one of the issues for UFG cost allocation is consistency between or among storage operators.  Would you agree that that's an issue?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUDD:  So let's just have a look at the Enbridge Tecumseh storage operation.  And I'm no expert on this, Mr. Kitchen, so I'm going to need your help, all right?

Now, if Enbridge brings gas into Union's system at the eastern end of Parkway - right? -  and transports that gas to Dawn, it attracts one pass of UFG; correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUDD:  And to be clear, if that gas arrives at Dawn, though, via the Vector pipeline coming from the other direction, it would not attract UFG; am I right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Vector is connected directly to Dawn, though not Union's facility.  So UFG is only derived on Union's facilities.

MR. BUDD:  Right.  But I think the answer is yes, is it not?

MR. KITCHEN:   Yes.  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Now then Enbridge transports and injects the gas into Tecumseh.  And in that case, no UFG gets assigned on that pass either; correct?

MR. KITCHENER: Again, they are using their own facilities to move it from Dawn into the Tecumseh storage facility, not using Union’s system.  So, yes.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  And then Enbridge withdraws the gas and transports it back to Dawn, and no UFG gets assigned on that pass either; am I correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  There's no UFG assigned by Union.  There may be some assigned by Enbridge, but I don't know.

MR. BUDD:  Okay.  Thanks.

And am I correct that the theory is that Enbridge is, in fact, incurring its own UFG costs for injection and withdrawal from its own storage pool?  Isn't that right?
MR. KITCHEN:  I assume that they would be incurring UFG, as well.  They get UFG in the same way we do, through metering variations.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  Now, for Union's own storage, if Union brings gas into its system at Parkway in the summer to be injected into storage for its sales customers, will that gas attract UFG costs to move to Dawn?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is the methodology, yes.


MR. BUDD:  Right.  And it will attract UFG again when it gets injected into Union's storage; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. BUDD:  And it will attract UFG again when it gets withdrawn from Union's storage facilities; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.  All activity on the Union system will attract UFG.


MR. BUDD:  And it will attract UFG again when it gets delivered to Union's sales customers; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. BUDD:  So we can probably agree, so far, that there are up to four passes of UFG; is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Assuming gas is moved on the system, moved into storage, moved out of storage, and then sold, yes.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.


MR. KITCHEN:  Some gas is actually transported directly to the end‑use customer.


MR. BUDD:  Can you explain to me why we are assigning UFG costs to gas going into Union's storage and why we are assigning UFG for gas coming out of Union's storage?


MR. KITCHEN:  What we do is, in terms of calculating or determining UFG activity, there's really a two‑step process.  The first step in the process is to determine, based on storage activity and transportation activity, how much UFG is associated with each function.


Once we've attributed the amount to the storage function, then it's reasonable to charge UFG on both injection and the withdrawal, since the metering variations can happen based on the volume going through those meters, in and out.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  And can you tell me, then, why we do that for Union's storage, but we don't do that for Tecumseh?  For example, is one of the reasons that some UFG costs are associated with the storage operation itself, and, therefore, Union's storage should attract some UFG costs because, say, Enbridge's Tecumseh also attracts its own UFG?


MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, I'm not really following.  The Tecumseh facilities are at Dawn, in which case once the gas moves from Parkway to Dawn, that's the transportation that attracts the UFG.  From there, Union doesn't know what UFG is attracted by Tecumseh.  It wouldn't be appropriate for us to attract our own storage UFG on their injections into their own pools.


MR. BUDD:  I guess the real question boils down to:  Why do you charge your own storage itself?  You're incurring your own UFG costs.  Enbridge presumably is incurring its own.  Am I correct on that?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Okay.  The next area I'd like to turn to is the topic of fuel costs.  And if we could look at your evidence, Panel, at page 25 to 26.  And let's start with the flows from Dawn to Tribute's pool, if we might, and at line 13 to 16, on page 25, starting with the heading "Fuel Savings."


You indicate that:

"During the summer injection season, embedded storage operations are a demand on Union's system analogous to a consuming customer.  For each of the four pools considered, the gas flow is typically in the same direction as the existing flows, so it is additive and increases overall fuel use." 


My question is to you.  You're indicating that the flows to the pool are typically in the same direction as other flows.  How typical is that?


MR. POREDOS:  In the shoulder months, during April and October, all of the flow is from Dawn to Parkway.  Over the last three to four years, most of the flow, in fact, 365 days of year, is from Dawn to Parkway.


So you are attracting ‑‑ you are in the same direction mostly when you attract compressor fuel, mostly in April and October.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  And so, just to put a finer point on it, what percentage of the summer flows do you think are in the same direction as overall flow?  It's all 100 percent from now on, do you anticipate?


MR. POREDOS:  Virtually 100 percent of the flow goes from Dawn towards Parkway, during the summer period.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Poredos, just for the record, could you tell us where Parkway is, physically?


MR. POREDOS:  Sorry.  Parkway is the east end of our Dawn transmission system.  It is basically at the border of Mississauga, where we meet into the TCPL system and the Enbridge system.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you, sir.


Now, let's deal with the withdrawal season flows, which you refer to, Panel, at line 18 of page 25 of 45.


I take it that the withdrawal season would be somewhere around like November to April?


MR. POREDOS:  Normally the withdrawal season would be November through the 1st of April, depending on weather and a lot of other factors.


MR. BUDD:  Good.  And in this season, which we've just defined, we're agreed that these are notional flows; correct?


MR. POREDOS:  Notional flows in terms of ‑‑ could you repeat the question?  Sorry.


MR. BUDD:  Well, the withdrawal season --


MR. POREDOS:  Yes.


MR. BUDD:  -- we've agreed is, say, November to April.  And during that season, those are notional flows as if the gas is actually flowing from our pool to Dawn?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is what the service is contracted for, and that's what the rate reflects.


MR. BUDD:  But what really happens is that the storage operator allows Union to reduce its easterly flows?


MR. POREDOS:  The storage operator has contracted for a service at Dawn to exchange the flows.  So on a daily basis, if the system in Stratford‑Goderich is taking, let's say, five units of gas from the well and burns it, Union provides five units of gas at Dawn, which the storage provider then can sell to a third party.


MR. BUDD:  Right.  But I think ‑‑ I apologize if I wasn't more clear on it, but what I'm really talking about is what's really happening is that the storage operator is allowing Union to reduce its easterly physical flows because ours is there?


MR. POREDOS:  In a physical sense, that five units would not have to flow from Dawn to the Stratford‑Dawn lateral or the other part.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  Okay, if we flip the page to page 26, you indicate that:

"These counter flows could provide some fuel savings." 


Do you see that at lines 1 and 2?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  In fact, we could agree that they will provide fuel savings, would they not?


MR. POREDOS:  Well, they could.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  I don't understand how they could not.


MR. POREDOS:  From an incremental customer's standpoint, it's very difficult to pinpoint that molecule and what is being done with that particular molecule, whether it is actually going through a compressor at a high‑efficiency fuel use or a low‑efficiency fuel use.


So on the days where the compressor may be operating because of other flows in the system, and that molecule is going at a lower fuel rate ‑‑ or, sorry, a higher fuel rate, then there may not necessarily be savings on that day.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  I'd like to turn to the M12 monthly transportation fuel ratios and rates, which I ‑‑ Mr. Knecht was kind enough to get off your website.  I'm sure you're familiar with what that looks like.


It gives you a series of months.  And, Mr. Kitchen, you know what that's about?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  I don't have one in front of me.


MR. BUDD:  And, in fact, you referred to it this morning at about 10:15 in your evidence.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I just lost you.  You have a copy of the M12 rate order, is that correct, or part of it?


MR. BUDD:  No, it's ‑‑


MR. SMITH:  A rate schedule?


MR. BUDD:  It's just off your website.


MR. SMITH:  Do you have copies for the witness?


MR. BUDD:  I'm sorry, I thought you had it.  I can speak generally to it.  Are you familiar with it?


MR. SMITH:  You're speaking generally about that rate class, right?


MR. BUDD:  Right.


MR. KITCHEN:  You've got something circled in the corner.  Is that Appendix C in the right --


MR. BUDD:  Yes, it's Schedule C, 1 of 2.  Are you familiar with it?  


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. BUDD:  I just have some general questions.  And on that, it looks like the fuel charges for your easterly flows are noticeably higher in the winter than the summer by maybe about 5 cents a gigajoule; does that sound about right to you?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'll take it subject to check.  They are higher in the winter.


MR. BUDD:  And just theoretically, why is that?


MR. KITCHEN:  The summer fuel on the rate schedule is largely Dawn fuel in April and October, as Mr. Poredos said, and UFG.  Those fuel ratios all include UFG.

Winter fuel will use the compression on the main line at Bright and Lobo, which accounts for more fuel.

MR. BUDD:  Thanks.  Now, if an M16 customer east of Dawn, which is what Tribute is, is shipping in the summer at the low fuel rates, which are identified on your M12 monthly transportation fuel ratios and rates, schedule C, and it is reducing Union's need to ship gas in the winter, isn't that customer providing a fairly substantial net fuel savings, Mr. Kitchen?

MR. KITCHEN:  There would be a fuel savings.  I don't know the quantum offhand.

MR. BUDD:  We certainly could agree that Union still has to ship the same amount of gas; correct?  But it gets to do it at lower summer costs, as pointed out on the rate schedule, rather than the higher winter costs.  So really, the net fuel costs caused by an M16 customer east of Dawn are negative.  Correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  There will be a summer fuel benefit.

In terms of our rate design, though, I keep having to go back to our rate design.  We do not stream benefits of any kind except for the DCC, which is being eliminated to customers.

We operate the system on an integrated basis.  And all customers share in the costs of operating the system, and that includes fuel.

And Mr. Poredos -- when the fuel budget comes to our group to actually design the revenue-cost ratios, they take into account all of the flows on the system, and the fuel budget reflects those flows.

MR. BUDD:  Okay.  The next and last topic that I'd like to cover off, if I could, is in the area of rate design.  And if we could just start at Exhibit A.2, schedule 3, please.

And I'm probably going to need your help here, as I have had from Mr. Knecht, in areas where lawyers are loathe to tread.  But I’d like to start by reviewing the elements of the tariff for M16 customers east of Dawn.  And at row 1, you're proposing, as I think I heard you in your evidence this morning, a $525/month customer charge; correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUDD:  And we can agree, I'm sure, that that's pretty much based on the cost of the meter which will be installed and owned by Union?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUDD:  Okay.  And that's pretty much based on your assessment of an allocated cost?

MR. KITCHEN:  The direct assignment of the costs associated with the M16 rate class.  It recovers the return tax -- the return of taxes related to the meter, as well as O&M of actually maintaining that meter.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.

And now if we go down row 2, this is the transportation commodity charge to Dawn.  Is it fair to characterize this charge as the charge for giving the customer the value of the gas at Dawn by displacement?  And that is, for Tipperary, Union allows the customer to provide gas into the FHG system and get gas at Dawn by displacement; is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  I wouldn't characterize it that way, no.  I would characterize that as being the value of Union's other transmission facilities as proxied by the Dawn-Trafalgar unit cost attributable to in-franchise customers.

MR. BUDD:  We may differ on the characterization, but in any event that's worth 2.5 cents, is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  It's based on the cost allocation study.

MR. BUDD:  And more importantly, and I'd like to draw this to the Board's attention, according to that chart, it has no cost base; is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUDD:  No costs involved in the displacement?

MR. KITCHEN:  No, that's not -- that's not correct.  I think the way we would characterize that is Union allocates transmission and distribution-rate-related costs based on peak-day demands.  The embedded storage provider is not -- or the facilities were not constructed to meet the demands of embedded storage -- of the embedded storage provider, and therefore we're not allocating any costs.

We do believe, though, that it is appropriate to charge a rate for using the facilities, even if they're using them off-peak.  And that revenue will flow back to customers to whom the costs are actually allocated to, which are in-franchise customers.

MR. BUDD:  All right.  Thank you for that answer.

And at page 41 of 45, lines 18-21, I believe Union indicates that:

"This charge is based on the commoditized cost of the Dawn-Trafalgar system for in-franchise customers."

Is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUDD:  Okay.  And the only rationale for this charge seems to be that it's the lowest one that you at Union could find in your current rates; is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  We were seeking to find a rate that would provide a reasonable contribution, move us away from using distance as a factor in determining the rate, and make an attempt to not impede the development of embedded storage in Ontario.  So we were looking for a low rate.

MR. BUDD:  Thanks.  And so, in essence, could we agree that this -- in any event, this is a plain value-of-service rate based on Union's assessment -- Union's judgmental assignment of a reasonable contribution to fixed costs?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes; that's correct.

MR. BUDD:  Fair characterization.  Okay.

If I could ask you, panel, to turn to A.2, schedule 3, again, please.  And this time I'd like to focus, if I could, on the demand charge.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  Now, for customers east of Dawn, Mr. Kitchen, Union is proposing a $27.339 10³m³ day per month; is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  And that demand charge, if I look closely at that, will recover $79,000 in this exhibit at a cost of $2,000; is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Again, this is an area where -- in the cost study we do not allocate Dawn-Trafalgar costs to embedded storage providers east of Dawn, because they are not contributing to the design-day demands.  They're off-peak.

We are trying to recognize that there is -- they are using the facilities, and as such should pay a rate.  And that's why we've actually recognized, in the rate, the -- first of all, they're only using it in the summer.  And that the distance traveled that they will -- the distance that they will be using on the Dawn-Trafalgar is only to the Stratford lateral.  And so we've adjusted the Dawn to Parkway rate to reflect those two items.

MR. BUDD:  And that’s -- those numbers, for the record, are found at line 6 of Exhibit A.2, schedule 3, this charge of $79,000 for the revenue requirement of 2.

Now, could we agree that this charge is to reflect transporting gas from Dawn to the pool in the summer, which really has no cost because, as you just said, I think, the systems are not designed to meet summer flows?  Except for the $2,000 in system integrity costs?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think I'd characterize it as having no cost.  There is a cost that is being recovered from other customers.  And we are trying to recognize that there is another use on the system and crediting those dollars back to the customers when costs are allocated.

MR. BUDD:  All right.  And at page 39-40, which I think is detailed at -- is that right, A.2, schedule 5?  You basically describe this charge as being a

distance-adjusted charge for summer use of the Dawn-Trafalgar system -–

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  -- is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes; that's correct.

MR. BUDD:  And this -- again, this is judgment for some reasonable contribution to fixed costs, in Union's opinion; correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think I would characterize this as being judgment.  Gas is being shipped to the lateral -- the Stratford lateral, and it's only being shipped during the summer.  It's a straightforward mathematical calculation.

MR. BUDD:  So now, we may not perfectly agree on the characterization, I can see that.  But we do have two charges that amount to something in the order of 7 cent a gigajoule.  There is the one for the displacement, as I call it, for about 2.5 cents and the other demand charge assessed piece, which is 4.5 cents for transporting gas from Dawn to the pool.  That totals about 7 cents, does it not?

MR. KITCHEN:  I'll take that.  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  Which doesn't have any hard mathematical cost basis, let's just submit for a moment, sir, and think about this.  They're based on judgment, and they are based on Union's judgment of what constitutes a reasonable contribution to fixed costs.  Do they not?


MR. SMITH:  Well, sorry, Mr. Budd, I don't have a problem with putting that.  But the record should be clear that, as you've acknowledged, Mr. Kitchen did not accept your characterization that it was a judgment.  So that assumption was built into your question and wasn't accepted by Mr. Kitchen.


MR. BUDD:  Would you agree those are the two charges; they add up to 7 cents?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they add up to 7 cents.


MR. BUDD:  All right.  Now, are you familiar with the value-of-service concept as a rate‑making criteria?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. BUDD:  And if I could just refer you to page 2, lines 16 to 18 of your evidence, which I think you may have referred to this morning, you've indicated that Union believes that storage development is good for the province; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that is our position.


MR. BUDD:  And I'd like to confirm for the Board members hearing this case that, in our discussions with Union, that's been consistently their perspective, and we accept that they believe that development of new storage is good for the province.


MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure if that's a question to a member of the Panel or which statements ‑‑ which conversations you're referring to.


MR. BUDD:  Union ‑‑ perhaps I can help my friend.  Obviously Union and Tribute have had a number of meetings.  They've all been, I think, reasonably constructive and positive, and so we're not having a problem with Union in terms of that.  We believe Union supports that.  That's my point.


And you would agree with me in all of our meetings, would you not, that they've been quite constructive and positive and we're all sort of trying to move in the same direction of more storage in Ontario?


MR. POREDOS:  Union supports third party development, as long as it is rational development, of storage within Ontario or ex Ontario,


MR. BUDD:  All right.  And what's your sense of, having read the Natural Gas Forum, where the Board is coming from in respect of developing this storage in the Province of Ontario?  Have you had a chance to read the Natural Gas Forum report from the Board?


MR. SMITH:  Is there a portion of the forum report that my friend would like to put to the witnesses, or is he asking for the Board's view of what the Board has written, or Union's view of what the Board was thinking in its report?


MR. BUDD:  The latter.  I'd like to ask, first, if you've had a chance to review that forum report, if you're familiar with it, and if you have formed any view on that.


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, I've reviewed the report that the Board's put out.  In essence, I think the Board is also supportive of storage development.  However, there is a number of processes and decisions yet to be made that are still outstanding.


MR. BUDD:  In other words, pieces of it will come back for generic hearings and so on?


MR. POREDOS:  Correct.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that some utilities interpret the value of service criteria as something of an ability to pay issue?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is an interpretation, I would say, yes.


MR. BUDD:  And such that some customers either, if they could, might take their business elsewhere, if they could get lower rates, while customers whose demand elasticity is low might face higher rates.  Is that theoretically correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  Customers with a high elasticity demand, yes -- I would agree customers with a higher price elasticity, yes, may take their business elsewhere -- sorry, may face higher rates.


MR. BUDD:  And Union, I take it, in other of your rate schedules, as a general proposition, has flex rates?  You're familiar with flex rates?  Is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  What do you mean by flex rates?


MR. BUDD:  Rates where you have a negotiated rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, we have negotiated rates for some services.


MR. BUDD:  And that understandably allows Union to take advantage, and properly so, of value of service; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  And recognize alternative fuel usage and other such considerations, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Kitchen, I know you have to look at Mr. Budd, so could you just move yourself a bit this way so that you can be facing the microphone at the same time?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. BUDD:  And a final area that I'd like to ask you, then, Panel -- any one of you, of course, is free to answer -- is:  In developing the M16 rate proposal for this Board's consideration, did you consider the storage customers' economics or ability to pay, in the business in which you yourselves would presumably know what it costs to develop new storage, when you designed the M16 rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think our evidence says that we tried to design a rate that was as low as possible within accepted cost allocation and rate design principles.  That's what we did.  We didn't look at or consider what a customer was willing to pay or could pay.


MR. BUDD:  You did not.


And if this Board decided, on a permanent or interim basis, in its decision to alter that part of a cost allocation methodology, is that something Union would look at?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, if the Board directed us to have an alternative rate design, we would, of course, implement that.  I would hope, though, that the Board's decision would be specific as to what they intended and that the implications may be ‑‑ may not flow to other rate classes.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you, Mr. Kitchen.  Thank you, all Panel members, Members of the Board.  Those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Budd.  Mr. DeRose, would you like to go now?


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DeROSE:


MR. DeROSE:  Panel, one of the advantages of going third is that my cross will be short.  I've been crossing things out as my two friends have gone ahead of me.


I'd like to begin by taking you to Exhibit 2.1.  That's 2.1.  This is an interrogatory from IGUA.


MR. KITCHEN:  I have it.


MR. DeROSE:  And, I'm sorry, that's Exhibit B2.1, Mr. Chairman.


And if I can take you to attachment number 1, which is the fourth page in.  And it's a comparison of average unit rates for transportation, and you've provided the firm transformation service rates for fate 20, rate 100, M4, M7, U7T1 and M13.


I just want to clarify that that is an apples‑to‑apples comparison with the proposed charges for M16, that being the 17.8 cents and the 13.4 cents?


MR. KITCHEN:  These rates have been adjusted to remove storage, so they are solely transportation rates.


They also -- they do -- the 13.4 cents and the 17.8 cents are based on pool turnover, which essentially means based on the withdrawal volumes, so they are comparable.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So just to make sure that I understand it properly, if we take rate 20, which is at 33.8 cents, that's roughly double to west of Dawn?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, if I can take you to Exhibit B4.1, page 2 of 2.  We've been taken to this ‑‑ or you've been taken to this exhibit a number of times today, and Mr. Janigan asked you a couple of brief questions about the NOVA Alberta system.  I would like to just clarify a few points on that.


First of all, is it your understanding that in the NOVA Alberta system, the costs associated with transportation to and from storage ‑‑ sorry, to the storage pools are recovered from all shippers on the system?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's my understanding.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And, Panel, are you able to confirm whether ‑‑ to confirm my understanding that all shippers on the NOVA system, or virtually all shippers, are producers?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's my understanding of the system, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  And on the NOVA system, I take it it's your understanding that NOVA shippers are the same parties that use the storage?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that's my understanding.


MR. DeROSE:  So that all NOVA system customers benefit from and may use the storage which are included in the tolls?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, the same parties that use the storage are the shippers on the system.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, with the case of Union, as I understand it, Union's in-franchise and ex-franchise rate classes, as a whole, will not be using the embedded storage; is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And so you would agree that one of the differences between the Union distribution system and the NOVA system is that, in Union, you cannot say that all customers will benefit from and may use the storage -- the embedded storage?

MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

Now, you have already discussed the various reasons why you cannot rely on the Tipperary pool at this point in time.  You've indicated that currently you have sufficient facilities to meet design day until 2009, and you have indicated a number of risks that you would have to look at before you could rely on that type of pool, and included things such as the quality of the equipment, the maintenance, the reliability, the emergency response, et cetera.

Have you undertaken any type of studies to look at that -- at those issues, at the risks associated with using embedded storage pools?

MR. LEGG:  None that I am aware of.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it that it would be irresponsible of Union to rely on such pools without taking those -- without undertaking such studies?

MR. LEGG:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And finally, panel, do any customer classes currently pay a rate for service that is based on the physical flow of gas, as opposed to the contractual commitment?

MR. KITCHEN:  No.  All of our rates are based on the contractual commitment to provide service.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

Mr. Aiken, would you like to go next?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. AIKEN:

MR. AIKEN:  In Exhibit A.1, tab 1, on page 2, you talk about the contract between Union and Tribute for the Tipperary storage pool.  I just want to get a clearer indication in my mind how this contract works.

Is there a firm capacity that has been contracted for in the injection season?  In other words, a firm CD of, I believe, it's 22010 10³m³ that shows up in one of the cost allocation schedules?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And that's for the injection season.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And that's a ceiling on the amount that Tribute can move in the summertime?

MR. KITCHEN:  On a firm basis.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And that's similar to a firm CD that you would have with a contract customer?  It's a ceiling?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  In the withdrawal season, the firm capacity, is that a ceiling, again?  The maximum amount that Tribute can put into Union system in the withdrawal season?  Or is that a floor?  That's a minimum amount they have to put in each day?

MR. LEGG:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, which –

MR. LEGG:  Sorry –

MR. AIKEN:  It's a maximum or it's a minimum that they have to put into Union's system in the wintertime?

MR. LEGG:  That amount is the minimum that we can accept into the system on a design day.

MR. KITCHEN:  On a firm basis.

MR. LEGG:  On a firm basis.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, I don't understand why there would be a minimum that you can accept.  I thought it would be a maximum that you would be able to accept.

MR. KITCHEN:  No, in terms of -- since the -- Mr. Legg may have to jump in, because this is probably more than I'm good at.  But on the withdrawal -- in the withdrawal period, the Tipperary pool would be providing service to the local market.  So in order to guarantee a firm service during the withdrawal season, you have to know what is the minimum you can accept on any day.  Because over the winter there will be demands that will -- as winter ramps up, the demand will ramp up.  And as it gets colder more can be accepted.  But you need to have that base load that you can accept throughout the winter, throughout the 151 days.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So I take it, then, that you're guaranteeing Tribute they can put -- I believe it's 267 10³m³ at a minimum, but there's no requirement for Tribute to put in any gas at all on any given day in the wintertime; is that correct?

MR. LEGG:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  The concept that you've come up with here, in terms of different rates for storage providers east and west of Dawn, in your view, does this violate the postage-stamp rate-making principle?

MR. KITCHEN:  No, it does not.  Union designed the rate to reflect the transmission systems that are being used by the independent storage developers.  We already have rates for those transmission systems out there.  So it really is allowing us to tune the rate to the individual development, rather than having a postage-stamp rate.

But the -- we currently offer C1 Ojibway to Dawn service, and that's what the customers west of Dawn will be paying for.  And for customers east of Dawn we currently have Dawn-Trafalgar rates, and that's what those customers will be paying for, because that's the primary system that they're using.

MR. AIKEN:  So this essentially benefits -- or does provide a lower rate for storage providers east of Dawn?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  Merging the rates would have resulted in a rate between the two.

MR. AIKEN:  On the issue of the value of service, I believe I understand what Union is proposing in terms of  recovering some revenue from the M16 rate class.  My question is, do other rate classes pay a charge that reflects the value of service and provide a contribution to the recovery of those facilities?  And I'll give you an example.  I'm assuming that there's no Dawn-Trafalgar demand costs allocated to M6, M5, M7, or T1 interruptible customers; is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Is there a recognition in the rate design for those interruptible rate classes?  And they do pay a value for service?

MR. KITCHEN:  The interruptible in-franchise rate classes do contribute to the recovery of costs.  They are allocated distribution-demand-related costs, for instance, and there is a recovery of those.

In terms of your other -- just another point.  The M16 -- or M13 customers are also not allocated design-day demand-related costs, but they are charged a rate for using Union's system and transporting to Dawn.  And that flows back to in-franchise rate classes.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Kitchen.  That was going to be my next question on the M13s.

Now, if you could turn to the attachment to Exhibit  B.5.24.  I am looking at line 5, that on the right-hand column has the quantity of 40,317.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And my understanding of that volume and the way it's calculated, which is, the 267 I referred to previously, times the 151 days, that is for gas that is moved from the pool to Dawn; is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And the following line, April through October, the 47,000, that's for gas that's moved the other way, from Dawn to the pool, in the summertime?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And then note 2, at the bottom of that page, talks about why these numbers are difference -- sorry, are different.  And does this note mean that there would be interruptible gas moved from the pool to Dawn in the wintertime?  And that would balance the injections and the withdrawals on an annual basis?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  During -- to match ‑‑ the Tribute will take interruptible service for the difference, and they won't be charged a demand charge for that.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, maybe if you can keep that schedule open and move to Exhibit A2, schedule 3, as well, and I'm looking at lines 7 and 8, the fuel to the pool and the fuel to Dawn.


Maybe I'm not looking at this right, but are these numbers reversed, the 40,000 and the 47,000?  The fuel to the pool in this schedule, Exhibit A2, schedule 3, is 40,000, and on the attachment to B5.24 that 40,000 is the billing units in the wintertime for withdrawals, which are moving contractually, anyway, the opposite way.


MR. KITCHEN:  I see your confusion, Mr. Aiken, and I think I'd have to check to see which is right.  I believe you're correct, though.


MR. AIKEN:  Could you undertake to check and, if ‑‑ in particular, if Exhibit A2, schedule 3 needs to be changed, how that would affect all these other figures in that schedule?


MR. SMITH:  We can -- I'm just thinking of the timing.  I think we can check if there is, in fact, a transposition error, and subject to Mr. Kitchen's comments, I think we can do ‑‑ I think we can do what Mr. Aiken is asking for, but I'd just ask the witness to confirm that that's a possibility, given the amount of time ‑‑


MR. AIKEN:  I'd be happy for it on a best‑efforts basis.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, I think it has to be a little more than that, Mr. Aiken, with all due respect.  We would like to know whether that schedule is correct or not, and we would like to know that as soon as possible.


MR. KITCHEN:  I'll undertake to provide that.


MR. LYLE:  Mr. Chair, we'll mark that as Undertaking G1.1, and if I could point out, there appears to be a similar transposition error in one of the interrogatory responses at Exhibit B1.1, if the witnesses could also  check. 

UNDERTAKING NO. G1.1:  TO CHECK TRANSPORTATION NUMBERS IN EXHIBITS A2 AND B1.1

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Mr. Aiken.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just two more questions, I believe.


In Mr. Knecht's evidence, on page 8 ‑‑ I don't know if you need to open it up.  It's only a couple of lines, and I'll read it.  He states that:

"Therefore, to assign Union's storage‑related UFG to an embedded storage provider on top of the UFG cost it incurs on its own account may be seen as inequitable and anti-competitive." 


Is Union assigning any storage‑related UFG to the M16 rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  Union is not charging any storage‑related UFG to the M16 customer.  It's all transportation related.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.


And, finally, on the compressor fuel, the fuel costs, it's my understanding that many direct‑purchase customers deliver their gas to Union at Parkway, including in the wintertime; is that correct?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Does this reduce the fuel costs and compressor fuel in total for Union moving gas on the Dawn and Parkway system?


MR. POREDOS:  Yes, it will, but it is included in the rate design as we do the budget for the compressor fuel, and included in the rates.  That reduction would then be reflected for all customers.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Poredos.  That was my next question.


So, thank you, panel.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Mr. Rowe, how long do you think you will be?


MR. ROWE:  Mr. Chairman, I have no questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  No questions.  Thank you.  Mr. Ross.


MR. ROSS:  No questions, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  No questions.  Okay.  Ms. Paulus, any idea how long you'll be?  Would you prefer a break now or you want to start now?


MS. PAULUS:  We could certainly finish before 12:30.  On the other hand, it may be productive to read a few questions and ensure which ones ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Why don't we charge ahead, and we'll break at 12:30, then?


MS. PAULUS:  Thank you. 


MS. PAULUS:  Mr. Fisher, do you mind?


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Paulus, perhaps I can ask you to move.  Maybe you can switch seats with Mr. Janigan, since he's finished his cross.  Mr. Janigan, if that's okay with you?


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.


MR. VLAHOS:  And, of course, the gentleman is your advisor there?


MS. PAULUS:  I'll take him, too.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, please do.


MS. PAULUS:  And he's flattered on the description.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, who's flattered?  You are or he is?


MR. VLAHOS:  In the first row over here.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. PAULUS:


MS. PAULUS:  I feel like I've achieved success already.  I've moved up.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm not sure about that.


MS. PAULUS:  It's good to feel that way.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Paulus, you may want to shift a bit more towards the window so when you're facing the witnesses, the microphone will be right in the middle.


MS. PAULUS:  Can you hear me?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.


MS. PAULUS:  I'll just commence by directing my questions to the panel, in general, and you can answer as you feel appropriate.


How many M16 contracts are currently in force?


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Paulus, you have to look towards the microphone, though.


MS. PAULUS:  How many M16 contracts are currently in force?


MR. KITCHEN:  There are two M16 customers.  One is actually taking service right now, and one is Tribute, which is signed for the capacity, but their pool is still ‑‑ they have an application before the Board to develop the pool.


MS. PAULUS:  And just to clarify, the other contract is?


MR. KITCHEN:  With Enbridge.


MS. PAULUS:  And that is for which pool?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is for the Chatham 71712 pool.


MS. PAULUS:  That's the pool that was previously operated by CanEnerco?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it is.


MS. PAULUS:  And with respect to the contract with Tribute, you indicated there are no volumes flowing at this time; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MS. PAULUS:  But that contract is for transportation on the Stratford‑Goderich lateral?


MR. KITCHEN:  It is for transportation from Dawn to the pool and from the pool to Dawn.


MS. PAULUS:  Which is located on that ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MS. PAULUS:  Can you identify for me what other types of users are on that specific leg, by class or type?


MR. LEGG:  In the particular Forest‑Hensall‑Goderich system, there would be residential, commercial, and industrial users.


MS. PAULUS:  Can you just list them again, please?

MR. LEGG:  Sorry, on the Forest-Hensall-Goderich lateral, there would be residential, commercial, and industrial users of that distribution system.

MS. PAULUS:  And in the industrial group, you are including only consumers of a particular class; is that correct?

MR. LEGG:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. PAULUS:  And they would be taken under what type of contract?

MR. KITCHEN:  It would depend on the size of the industrial customer.  They could be served under the M2 rate schedule, the M4 rate schedule, the M5 rate schedule, T1, M7.  It really depends on the size of the customer and the service that they've elected for.

MS. PAULUS:  But they are all consumers?

MR. KITCHEN:  They're end-use customers, yes.

MS. PAULUS:  Thank you.  And with respect to commercial?

MR. KITCHEN:  They could also be served under similar rates.

MS. PAULUS:  And they are all end-users?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MS. PAULUS:  And similarly, residential?

MR. KITCHEN:  Residential customers would be served under the M2 rate schedule.

MS. PAULUS:  And what about M13 contracts?

MR. LEGG:  Yes, there are M13 customers or contracts on that system.

MS. PAULUS:  So when you indicated for me previously that the type of customers on that leg were residential, commercial, and industrial, would you amend your answer now?  Are there also producers?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, there are producers producing into the system –

MS. PAULUS:  But they have transportation -–

MR. KITCHEN:  I think Mr. Legg -- they have transportation contracts to Dawn, yes.

MS. PAULUS:  -- on that leg.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MS. PAULUS:  And they would be under an M13?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, assuming they're taking transportation under that service, yes.

MS. PAULUS:  Are you aware of whether there are any?

MR. LEGG:  On that system?  Yes, there are.

MS. PAULUS:  Yes.  That's right.  Thank you.

I'd like to talk a bit now about capacity on that particular leg.  Can you identify for us the capacity to take on new customers of any of the classes that we've  talked about, assuming that the M16 contract that you currently have is operating?

MR. LEGG:  With the M16 customer contract operating, the current facilities that Union would have, once that contract was operating, are adequate to serve the customers until 2009.

MS. PAULUS:  Are equipped to serve the customers, meaning the existing customers?

MR. LEGG:  The existing customers and any normal growth that you may see on a system such as Forest-Hensall-Goderich.

MR. KITCHEN:  End-use customer growth.

MR. LEGG:  End-use customers.

MS. PAULUS:  End use.  So that would include an industrial.  And if I wanted to put a generation facility, would it include that kind of normal growth?

MR. LEGG:  No, I don't believe it would.  It would have to be looked at based upon the size of the generating facility.  But that capacity is, essentially, for forecasted normal growth on the system.

MS. PAULUS:  And what kind of normal growth are you projecting?

MR. LEGG:  I believe it is in the 1 to 2 percent range per year on the system for normal-consuming customers.

MS. PAULUS:  So that's it, 1 to 2 percent growth.  Anything above that -- so, really, any good-sized facility, like a generation facility, there wouldn't be capacity for.

MR. LEGG:  No, most likely not.

MS. PAULUS:  And as you indicated, there is already in the area producers operating under M13 contracts?

MR. LEGG:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. PAULUS:  And if I had additional production come on stream, would there be capacity to take that additional production?

MR. LEGG:  It would depend upon the local consuming market.

MS. PAULUS:  Can you explain that?

MR. LEGG:  M13 customers are guaranteed access to the system - and Mr. Kitchen can add to this - based upon a best-efforts basis.  So when we look at capacity on the system, any historical capacity for M13 customers has been considered.

Any future changes will be looked at dependent upon the system capability to take the gas at that time.

MS. PAULUS:  But, of course, that's what we're talking about, incremental production.  And so there may very well be a problem.

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, the -- I think what Mr. Legg is saying is that we don't reserve capacity for local production.  To the extent that it's there, we try to take it into account in our planning.  But local production, M13 service, is a best-efforts service on the part of Union and the producer.

MS. PAULUS:  And, to be clear, I wasn't asking you whether you had, in fact, reserved any allocation of space, but rather, if, as a fact, there was additional production, whether you believe, after giving effect to the Tribute contract and assuming that it was operating at full volumes, that you would have capacity.

MR. LEGG:  I'm sorry.  Can you repeat the question, please?  I'm not sure I understand.

MS. PAULUS:  What I said was, I hadn't asked you -- and I did hear and appreciate your response that you didn't have an obligation to reserve capacity for new production.

But I'm asking you, as a matter of fact, whether you believe that, if there was new production - and I believe there is exploration in the area - so if there was, as a fact, new production, whether you think, as a fact, that you would have the ability to take on that new production, assuming that the Tribute contract was operating at full capacity?

MR. LEGG:  We would have the ability, based upon system conditions, to take on additional volumes from any M13 customer, again, on a best-efforts basis.

MS. PAULUS:  But not on a firm basis.

MR. LEGG:  That is correct.  It would be best efforts only.

MS. PAULUS:  And maybe that's a good opportunity now to talk about the distinctions between M13 contracts and the types of M16 contracts that have been proposed.

Can you explain for the Board what kind of service is under an M13 service?

MR. KITCHEN:  M13 customers contract with Union to transport gas from the local producer station to Dawn, where the M13 customer is able to market that gas to third  parties.

It's a unidirectional flow, and there is no flow back from Dawn to the local producer station.  The M16 contract contemplates flows from Dawn to the pool, and from the pool back to Dawn.  It is bidirectional.  They are similar in that, at times, there will be local markets served.

MS. PAULUS:  And did I understand when you originally said that the M13 contract was a contract on a  best-efforts basis, that what you are saying is that that contract is not a firm-service contract?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.

MS. PAULUS:  And so that contract is an interruptible basis?

MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.  Interruptible on both sides.

MS. PAULUS:  And do you offer any other kind of service to producers?

MR. KITCHEN:  I think the only other service that would be available is if the local producer, rather than transporting their gas to Dawn, wanted to sell it to Union as an Ontario producer.

MS. PAULUS:  But then that wouldn't be transportation?

MR. KITCHEN:  No.

MS. PAULUS:  And we're talking about transportation.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  There would be a supply to the system at that point.

MS. PAULUS:  Right.  So if they want transportation, it's always under an M13?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's the only service available at this time, yes.


MS. PAULUS:  And that is an interruptible service?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MS. PAULUS:  And as you indicated, of course, when you're producing, you're flowing from the produced area back into this system, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  [No audible response]


MS. PAULUS:  And that's the same as a withdrawal?


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Kitchen, it has to be a yes.


MR. KITCHEN:  No, it cannot.


MS. PAULUS:  And that would be analogous to the withdrawal from storage, the gas, instead of ‑‑ in other words, instead of being consumed on the system, you're producing into it?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, the withdrawal would be analogous to an M13 producer.


MS. PAULUS:  And under one of your two proposed M16 contracts, are you offering storage providers with an opportunity to have firm service on that withdrawal?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, firm service is an option under the M16 rate schedule that we're proposing.


MS. PAULUS:  But it's not an option to the producer.


MR. KITCHEN:  No, not at this time.


MS. PAULUS:  And this time is what we're dealing with now.


MR. KITCHEN:  It's not an option.


MS. PAULUS:  And so you've made a distinction, and if -- in the area that we've been talking about, the Goderich‑Stratford area, if I had then producers that are actually increasing the production in the area and I had storage which, as we've seen, is just moving existing volumes, are you suggesting that the storage could, in fact, take priority to the producer because they have a firm ability to have to have a firm contract?


MR. KITCHEN:  (Conferring) I think that to the extent that we have a firm contract with an M16 customer --


MS. PAULUS:  You have a firm contract with an M16?


MR. KITCHEN:  ... we will be obligated to provide that level of service.  We do not ‑‑ if that meant that we could not accept additional M13 volumes, then we could not accept them, as it is a best‑efforts service.


MS. PAULUS:  And, to be clear, the situation we're dealing with now, even though there aren't volumes being sold under your M16 contract, it is a firm M16, the existing contract with Tribute?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they have opted for firm service.


MS. PAULUS:  And you have made that available?


MR. KITCHEN:  We have contracted with them, and once they begin producing ‑‑ or, sorry, storing, then we would be obligated to meet those conditions in the contract.


MS. PAULUS:  But that's not available to a producer under your current regime?


MR. KITCHEN:  That firm space is contracted, so it's not available.


MS. PAULUS:  But you don't offer firm service to producers?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.


MS. PAULUS:  Okay.  Thank you.


You previously talked about who would pay for incremental system expansions in the event that you had a new storage provider come into the area.  By "the area", I mean the Stratford‑Goderich area.


Can we turn our minds now to the possibility that the new person that wants capacity is a consumer.  Let's assume that we did want to generate some electricity power in the area.  What would happen in that scenario?


MR. POREDOS:  In terms of the expansion of the system?  Could you just repeat it just to make sure I've got it right?


MS. PAULUS:  In terms of who pays for the expansion and how that ‑‑ under what circumstances that expansion would occur?


MR. POREDOS:  As new customers are added to the system, if the system does not have enough capacity, the incremental customer - let's say it's a power generator, as you've posed - we would look at the capacity on the system, and any incremental capacity that is required, we'd run economics on it, and if the long‑term revenues didn't offset the costs, there would be an aid to construction, and that customer would have to pay for the aid to be able to put the reinforcement in the ground.


Those facilities would also then have to be approved by the Board to make sure that it is justified.


MS. PAULUS:  And ‑‑ that's right.  So they'll have to show that they're economic, bearing in mind the large fee they may be paying because new pipe is required?


MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.


MS. PAULUS:  And, again, if we put in a couple of nice apartment blocks in the area and now we had new residential users, and you don't have capacity for them either, who's going to pay for that?


MR. LEGG:  For the apartment complex, as you talked about, on the distribution system it would be a similar review of the facilities.  You have to separate the distribution facilities, what I would call within the town, and the Forest-Hensall-Goderich type facilities.


MS. PAULUS:  I'm not talking about --


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  It has to be a question and an answer so the reporter can get it all down, please.


MR. LEGG:  So I would say on the true distribution system within a city, a very similar approach would be taken for that customer as to what their demands were and what was required to service those demands, if the current system couldn't.


MS. PAULUS:  All right.  Thank you. 


I think it's become evident ‑ and I'll ask you to correct me if I am wrong - that there is certainly a potential for competing uses of the existing pipeline.  Do you agree?


MR. POREDOS:  Certainly there would be a potential for competing uses.  Power generators, industrials, residentials may all be coming at similar times or in disproportionate times, so to speak, and, yes, there could be competing interests for that capacity.


MS. PAULUS:  And right now, do I understand ‑‑ perhaps you could explain for us the allocation system you use.


MR. POREDOS:  Oh, the allocation of existing capacity?


MS. PAULUS:  Yes.


MR. POREDOS:  Is that the question?  


MS. PAULUS:  Yes.


MR. POREDOS:  The allocation of existing capacity, or even incremental capacity, for that matter, would be based on a first come, first serve basis.


The customer requirement, they would ask Union for the incremental capacity and we would go through the expansion process as we -- they would come forward, and we would allocate that capacity on a first come, first serve basis.  They would apply to Union for the capacity.  We would do the analysis, and we would then go forward with the economic calculations, and if there's an aid, as I mentioned previously, the customer would be charged the aid for the incremental.


MS. PAULUS:  So you don't differentiate between types of users?


MR. POREDOS:  No.


MS. PAULUS:  With the exception, then, that you do, as a practical matter, distinguish because you offer some of them firm service and others not?


MR. POREDOS:  The decision or the request for firm or interruptible service would come from the customer.  Union may in some instances suggest that we don't have firm service and offer interruptible service, because it's the only way we could service that customer.


We certainly don't make the distinction between firm or interruptible.  It's really the customer decides whether they can live with the interruptible service.  If they can't, then we would look at firm and look at the expansion economics, and so forth.


MS. PAULUS:  Except that you have to qualify for a type of service, and the type of service you offer producers is -- at this time, is just M13, which is an interruptible form?


MR. POREDOS:  The service would have to be one on a rate schedule; correct.


MS. PAULUS:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Paulus, if you are moving to a new area, is this a convenient time to break for lunch?


MS. PAULUS:  I think it would be appropriate to break, and I can advise the Board that I wouldn't have a significant number of questions afterwards.  But it still probably would make sense.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Let's do that.  We'll take an hour break, then.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:34 p.m. 

--- On resuming at 1:32 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

MR. BROEDERS:  Excuse me.

MR. VLAHOS:  Must have been a corporate lunch, was it?  Okay.  Any preliminary matters?

MR. LYLE:  No, Mr. Chairman.

MR. VLAHOS:  There being none, Ms. Paulus, back to you.

MS. PAULUS:  Thank you.

Can you hear me sufficiently?

MR. VLAHOS:  Just a notch higher would be appreciated.

MS. PAULUS:  All right?

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  And try to look in the microphone as much as you can.  I know it's difficult to resist this poor gentleman on the other side, but try to speak to the microphone.

MS. PAULUS:  If on any portion of your system you have two parties, each of -- with -- hold interruptible capacity, and you have only -- you have insufficient capacity to serve both to the maximum they wish to deliver on any day, how do you handle that situation?

MR. LEGG:  Union does not build facilities to service interruptible load.  So if there were two customers with the same interruptible requirements, and the system did not have capacity, those customers would not be able to deliver interruptible volumes.  Union would reinforce for firm service, only.

MS. PAULUS:  Assume you did have some capacity over and above the firm requirements, but insufficient to service the two parties that have both contracted for interruptible, how do you allocate between the two parties that wish to deliver on an interruptible basis?

MR. LEGG:  On an -- are you talking about a customer consuming gas?  Or are you talking about a customer delivering gas to our system?  I'm sorry.  I don't quite understand the question.

MS. PAULUS:  You can answer it both ways, separately.  So if you had, for example, two producers, or a producer and a storage provider, that were both delivering on an interruptible basis, and you didn't -- as you say, you don't build facilities for interruptible, so you don't have sufficient capacity, how do you allocate as between those two interruptible users?

MR. LEGG:  On the distribution system, if a customer requests gas service at an interruptible rate, and we did not have the capacity, at the point in time where the customer needed that gas delivered to their operation, whatever it may be, then their interruptible volume would not be available to them, as far as –

MR. POREDOS:  On the transmission side, I guess, if you're talking about the producers, then delivering into the system?

MS. PAULUS:  Mm-hm, yeah.

MR. POREDOS:  Those would be allocated on the basis of system ability to take the gas on, depending on your location on the system.  That's why it's interruptible.
Because of the way the system operates, because of the loads on that system, the weather impacts, economic impacts, who's burning that day, your location on the system may actually pro-rate you, because of your location.

MS. PAULUS:  Right.

MR. POREDOS:  It wouldn't be Union, necessarily, saying that you could only deliver 10, unless there was some reason to do that.

Now, under most conditions, I think the system would regulate you –

MS. PAULUS:  Right.

MR. POREDOS:  -- as to what you could get into the system, on an IT basis.

MS. PAULUS:  As a -- practically speaking, then, you don't have any formal policy to deal with allocation between interruptible users?  Is that correct?

MR. POREDOS:  If there's capacity on the system to provide the IT, the customers could take as much as they can.  The only limitation would be the system ability to provide that volume on any one day.

MS. PAULUS:  But if two nominate, and all things being system -- equal on the system, you're going to allocate pro rata?  Or you're going to allocate first-come, first-serve?  Or -- there's no policy in –

MR. KITCHEN:  Are we talking about producers or end-users?  I think we need to –

MR. POREDOS:  Oh –

MS. PAULUS:  Both, but I thought they were answering separately for each.

MR. POREDOS:  Then let me make one more distinction.  I was talking about the distribution –

MS. PAULUS:  I –

MR. POREDOS:  -- system –

MS. PAULUS:  I –

MR. POREDOS:  -- not the transmission system.

MS. PAULUS:  I understood –

MR. POREDOS:  Okay.

MS. PAULUS:  -- that.

MR. POREDOS:  On the distribution system, there is no nomination, other than if there's a producer that's actually nominating on their transmission to Dawn –

MS. PAULUS:  Right –

MR. POREDOS:  -- the exchange service.

MS. PAULUS:  Yes.

MR. POREDOS:  They would say, the day before -- the gas-day, starting early in the morning, let's say, the producer would say:  I think I can get 4 MMCFD into the system -- into the local system, therefore you will deliver to me 4 MMCFD at Dawn.  So they would nominate that.

Now, they also would then have a balancing agreement at Dawn.  So if the actual weather, the actual economics, whatever, in the local system created a situation where they can only deliver 3 MMCFD, then the balancing would be done at Dawn.

But it would be the system that would regulate that, not Union.  The only thing that would regulate from a physical standpoint would be the capacity of the system, the MAOP, if we were -- if we allowed a producer to produce more gas than what –

MS. PAULUS:  Right.

MR. POREDOS:  -- the system could take in terms of pressure.  Which would mean that it would become an unsafe situation, if you go over the maximum operating pressure of the system.  We would then interrupt.  Gas quality.  Stuff like that.

Does that answer your question on the distribution side?

MS. PAULUS:  I think that's what you have to say, frankly.  I'm not sure how responsive it was to my question, but then it must be because you haven't dealt with the situation.

MR. POREDOS:  I guess I'd like to answer your question.  If you want to repeat it one more time, I'll see if I can understand it.  I'm not sure that I understand what you were asking.

MS. PAULUS:  Well, again, our question is, if you did have two parties with the same type of service, so they're both interruptible, both IT, and they're both operating under best-efforts, if it happened that they both wanted to produce into the system that day at a level that your system couldn't handle - because, as you say, you don't build to interruptible - then what would you do with those two parties?  What do you -- how do you handle the fact that you have a request for service that is in excess of what you can do?

MR. POREDOS:  Just so I can understand it, are you talking about nominating the service at Dawn or on to the distribution system?

MS. PAULUS:  I think you're free to distinguish between the two.

MR. POREDOS:  If you're nominating into the distribution system, it would not be Union that would regulate that.  It would be the system itself, depending on your location.  You just couldn't put more gas in –

MS. PAULUS:  Right.

MR. POREDOS:  -- there's safety valves and everything else, that would regulate the amount of gas that you could put in.

MS. PAULUS:  So you don’t need –

MR. VLAHOS:   Ms. Paulus, I'm sorry.  The reporter has a problem following this exchange, okay.  It has to be a question, and they have to wait for the answer, please.

MS. PAULUS:  I appreciate that.

MR. POREDOS:  What I was saying was, the distribution system would regulate the amount that can come into the system, not Union.  As long as you didn't exceed some contractual value, that there was a maximum amount that you could put into the system, or you didn't meet some quality issues in terms of gas quality, and so forth.  That's the only time that Union would really restrict that, on an IT basis, on the distribution system.

Now, the other part of the question, if you were asking about nominations to Dawn.  On producing X amount of volume, and we give you X amount of volume at Dawn?  That, again, would be based on the contractual parameters.  And those are, from what I understand, firm on the basis of the contract we have today with the M16, that you would nominate 4MMCFD on the system.  We would give you 4 at Dawn.  But then, if you actually produced less, it would be a balancing agreement at Dawn that would manage the differences, positive or negative, at Dawn.

MS. PAULUS:  All right.  And the service we've been referring to as interruptible, do you have a priority system for types of interruptible?  So, again, taking my example of an M13 producer, interruptible, and a -- let's assume that someone did pick up the interruptible service that you were offering under the M16.  Would there be a priority allocation, or are those both competing for the same service?


MR. POREDOS:  If I understand your question correctly, the M13 would be interruptible on the basis of best efforts, whatever you can get into the system.


The IT would be, again, on the basis of best efforts on Union's ability to deliver that service, the gas, on the system to the point where you're consuming it.  So on a distribution system, there is no priority, so to speak.  On the transmission system, we do prioritize IT services on the basis of market value.


MS. PAULUS:  Can you elaborate what you mean by market value?


MR. POREDOS:  Market value is what people are willing to pay for them.  So the more you pay, the higher you are on the priority.


MS. PAULUS:  Thank you.  That does answer the question, thank you.


Union's own storage facilities, do I understand they are located at Dawn?


MR. POREDOS:  The majority of the facilities, there's about 20 wells, that are located in the general vicinity of Dawn, yes.


MS. PAULUS:  When you say general facility ‑‑ vicinity of Dawn, can you give me a better indication of the location, relative to Dawn?


MR. POREDOS:  Well, the storage pools -- we have that as a -- not all the pools are in the same spot.  As geology will have it, they're scattered around a general area.  And I haven't got a great number to give you, but I would say within 10, 20 miles, I would think, of Dawn.  Their 20 pools would be located in the general area of the Dawn.


MS. PAULUS:  And are those all deemed to be at Dawn?


MR. POREDOS:  Well, they're deemed to be at Dawn because it's an integrated facility that's tied to compressors.  All the gathering system and everything comes into Dawn, and it is a hub that gives you a lot of versatility, a lot of flexibility.


So they're deemed to be at the Dawn hub.


MS. PAULUS:  Do you have gas storage facilities in Alberta?


MR. POREDOS:  Not as Union, no.  I -- we don't have any facilities at all, no.


MS. PAULUS:  Do you contract to use any storage in Alberta?


MR. POREDOS:  I don't believe Union is contracting.  We did years ago, but we do not presently contract for any storage.


MS. PAULUS:  Do you produce gas in Alberta?


MR. POREDOS:  Not as Union, that I would know of.  I know of no production.


MS. PAULUS:  In looking at the distribution portion of the system, specifically the Stratford‑Goderich leg, that system, the pounds per square inch is what, the PSI?  


MR. LEGG:  The maximum operating pressure of the Forest‑Hensall‑Goderich system is 500 pounds or 3,450 KPa.


MS. PAULUS:  And when I look at the Dawn‑Trafalgar line, what would the PSI of that portion be?


MR. LEGG:  The maximum operating pressure of the Dawn‑Trafalgar system is 895 PSI.


MS. PAULUS:  So gas that is in a storage facility on the Stratford‑Goderich line, can it flow back into Dawn?


MR. LEGG:  Physically, no, it cannot, because of the differences in maximum operating pressures.


MS. PAULUS:  So when we look at storage that's located, for example, at Ashfield, and -- do I understand that, in order to withdraw the gas out of storage, it would have to be consumed somewhere on that leg, on the FHG leg?


MR. POREDOS:  Well, it would, unless the customer, the producer, wouldn't want to pay for facilities to raise the pressure from the Stratford line at 500 pounds to pump that production into the Trafalgar system.  To physically get it there, you would have to install compression to do that.


MS. PAULUS:  And speaking of how the system operates as it's constructed today.


MR. POREDOS:  As constructed today, the production would have to be consumed within the Stratford-Goderich system; that's correct.


MS. PAULUS:  So the correct -- when I look over the long term and I look at volumes that will move on this system, assuming there was storage at, for example, Ashfield, the total volumes that get moved would be the same as the volumes that are consumed on that lateral; is that correct?


MR. POREDOS:  Just so that I understand you, you're talking about the existing system, what the existing ‑‑


MS. PAULUS:  Absolutely.


MR. POREDOS:  -- with the existing contracting we have.  The system would consume what it consumes today without the contract.  You've got a certain market on that system, and that's all you've got.


MS. PAULUS:  And storage doesn't ultimately, over the long term, change the volumes, because they can't -- as you've explained, because of the difference in the pressures that are permitted between the two systems, it never leaves the system and re-enters on Dawn‑Trafalgar; is that right?


MR. POREDOS:  The storage capacity that you have, or production from that area, or gas from storage, would only be able to feed the market you have there, unless you put in compression facilities.


MS. PAULUS:  As it stands now?


MR. POREDOS:  As it stands today, you can only deal with the market that's there.


MS. PAULUS:  It's a zero sum game.


MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.


MS. PAULUS:  So looking now at volumes moving on Union's system, if we didn't have any storage on the system, let's assume the volumes would be X; correct?


MR. POREDOS:  Correct.


MS. PAULUS:  And if I added storage, they would still, over the long haul, be X; is that correct?


MR. POREDOS:  If I understand the question, storage in itself does not create market.  Storage in itself is just a tool to provide the market with gas.  It is one of many tools.  It doesn't have to be storage.


MS. PAULUS:  Exactly.  And so now looking at those volumes that are going to be consumed on the FHG line, they enter the system, assume, at Dawn, and they'll be UFG attracted; is that correct?


MR. POREDOS:  I'll let our UFG expert answer that.


MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent that there is increased volumes moving on our facilities, there will be -- I believe there will be increased UFG.


MS. PAULUS:  If there were increased.  But now we're talking about the fact that there is, in fact, no increase in volumes.  So we have a consumer, and the gas will enter the system at Dawn.  Will there be UFG as it enters the system at Dawn?


MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent that there is a transportation service being provided --

     MS. PAULUS:  Mm-hm.

     MR. KITCHEN:  And to the extent that the volumes will be flowing from Dawn to the pool --

     MS. PAULUS:  Let's assume that there is a consumer on that FHG leg.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MS. PAULUS:  So we have to get some gas to that consumer.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MS. PAULUS:  Let's assume it enters at Dawn.  If it enters at Dawn, is there a UFG --

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MS. PAULUS:  Attracted?  And let's assume, now, instead of being consumed directly, it's going to go into storage first, so those volumes --

     MR. KITCHEN:  And I'm assuming we have an additional meter at the station --

     MS. PAULUS:  Correct.

     MR. KITCHEN:  So there will be an additional meter.

     MS. PAULUS:  Correct.

     MR. KITCHEN:  And there will be flows through that meter --

     MS. PAULUS:  Correct.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Which means there will be UFG associated with that meter.

     MS. PAULUS:  So as the volumes stop over at storage, it attracts UFG?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  Yes.

     MS. PAULUS:  Now we want to take those volumes out of storage, because they're going to get consumed.  It's winter.  As we take them out, is UFG attracted again?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Again, there is activity through the meter, and to the extent that there is activity through the meter, UFG is attributed.

     MS. PAULUS:  And then, as they're delivered to the consumer on that system, will that attract UFG?

     MR. KITCHEN:  UFG is included in all rates.

     MS. PAULUS:  So it attracts -- there's an embedded UFG component?

     MR. KITCHEN:  In delivery rates there is UFG, yes.

     MS. PAULUS:  So the same volume has flown ultimately, whether or not there was storage; is that correct?

     MR. KITCHEN:  It's not the existence of storage, though, that creates the UFG.  It's the existence of a meter.

     MS. PAULUS:  Okay.  You have indicated that Union supports the rational development of storage; is that correct?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that is.

     MS. PAULUS:  Can you elaborate, please, what you mean by “the rational development of storage”?

     MR. POREDOS:  As we've presented in the NGF presentations for the Board, Union supports third-party development of storage, as long as it's rational development.  And what we mean by that is that the economics have to drive the storage.

And it doesn't necessarily have -- it doesn't  necessarily mean that the storage has to be developed in Ontario.  The storage should be economic, and it should provide a benefit to the customers.

So it's development of storage in a rational sense, not development of storage for the sake of development of storage in Ontario.

     MS. PAULUS:  Thank you.  

No further questions.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Paulus.  

Mr. Lyle, are you ready?

     MR. LYLE:  Yes, Mr. Chair. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LYLE:

     MR. LYLE:  Gentlemen, I just want to take you back, first, to clarify or attempt to clarify a couple of issues that came up through Mr. Budd's cross-examination this morning.

And you had a discussion with Mr. Budd about the causes of unaccounted-for gas.  Now, as I understood your testimony, you indicated that the major reason for unaccounted-for gas is measurement error; is that correct?

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's what Union believes to be the case, yes.

     MR. LYLE:  Now, coming from the perspective of a layperson to this issue, it would seem that, over time, measurement error is something that's going to balance out.  Sometimes you're going to be over, sometimes you're going to be under, but over time, it's going to balance out.  Why, apparently, is that not the case?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, to the extent that there is measurement error, all our meters measure within Measurement Canada standards.  But it's very -- you'll never get two meters that measure exactly the same.  It's been Union's experience that we have UFG -- positive UFG variances, and the -- I agree, conceptually, you would expect it, over time, to be white noise, one meter measuring high, one meter measuring low.  But, in fact, that's not been our experience, but we -- our meters are all within the appropriate Measurement Canada standards but, in the end, we have UFG.

     MR. LYLE:  Have you ever looked further, then, into why?  Given the intuitive result, why that intuitive result is not correct?  And why, apparently, there seems to be some sort of systemic issue?

     MR. KITCHEN:  I think it's part of our standard practice to ensure that our meters are pulled from the field and re-calibrated for accuracy.  To the extent that we knew where -- to the extent that we could find the gas, then it wouldn't be unaccounted-for.  And I think we're vigilant on maintaining our system, such that we're not leaking gas into the atmosphere, et cetera.

     MR. LYLE:  But you've never asked one of your metering experts, perhaps, why is it that we always seem to be -- have a positive balance on unaccounted-for gas, related to measurement error?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I think that our measurement people are always trying to get the meters as accurate as possible.  I think one of the things that we need to take into consideration, that Union's UFG is one of the lowest 

-- or, at least, at the time of the Harrington-Hrehor study, is one of the lowest NFG --- or UFG percentages in North America.  And we have no reason to believe that that's still not the case.  In fact, if you look at the Harrington-Hrehor study - I believe it's on page 30 -- 31 - you can see our UFG record compared to others, and we are the lowest -- one of the lowest in North America.

     MR. LYLE:  Thank you.

Turning to you, Mr. Legg, in your discussion with Mr. Budd, you indicated that one of the considerations that Union would take into account in deciding whether to rely on Tribute to serve its local customers was equipment redundancy.  And by "equipment redundancy" are you referring to whether or not Tribute had a backup compression?

MR. LEGG:  Yes, that would be one of the factors.

     MR. LYLE:  Is that a significant factor, in Union's view?

MR. LEGG:  That would be a factor that, combined with others, would contribute to the overall security of supply.  They may be able to have a redundant compressor.  If it's an electric-driven compressor, for example, and the electricity goes out, there needs to be an electric 

back-up.  If it's a gas-driven compressor and the electricity fails, you would want to make sure that your control system that operates the gas-driven compressor, as well, can still respond.

So a compressor is pretty key, but it's one of many factors that you would look at in equipment redundancy.

MR. LYLE:  What other equipment issues might there be?

MR. LEGG:  You would have -- you could have compressors.  You -- the other things that may be there would be filters.  The other thing is -- from an equipment and overall perspective, would be the fact that, if the pool is operated based upon one well, if you had an issue at the wellhead, even though there's only one well -- if there's only one wellhead there, no matter what you do with equipment redundancy, if you can't get the gas out of storage when it's required, then you would have a security supply issue.  And on a local distribution system like Forest-Hensall-Goderich, that would create a safety concern because you would have an immediate outage of customers.

So you put them all together, equipment -- as I mentioned earlier, the equipment, the quality of the gas, those factors all combine to determine whether or not you would have security of supply that you can rely on on a design day.

     MR. LYLE:  Do you have any sense of what the costs would be to Tribute of installing backup compression?

MR. LEGG:  No, sir, I don't.

     MR. LYLE:  I want to turn you, then, gentlemen, to a Board Staff interrogatory.  It's Exhibit B.1.1.  And I’d turn you to the table that's an attachment.

And I'm looking at line 6 of that table, which is the total M16 for the west of Dawn.  And if we go over to column H, the proposed revenue is $312,000.  If we go back to column E, the revenue requirement is $283,000.

And my math indicates that that works out to a 

revenue-to-cost ratio of about 1.1:1.  Would you agree with that?  Doesn't have to be --


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. LYLE:  -- exact.


And turning, then, to line 12 on this table, and looking once again at column H, the proposed revenue, and this now is for M16 east of Dawn, the $237,000, and going back to column E, the revenue requirement is $124,000, and my calculation is that that's a revenue‑to-cost ratio of about 1.9:1.  Does that sound accurate?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  Yes.  That's because there are elements of rate design that are not included in the cost allocation study.


MR. LYLE:  I understand.  And to your knowledge, gentlemen, does Union have any other rate class where the revenue-to-cost ratio is as high as that?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure that -- I guess the short answer is, no, we don't.  M13 customers, though, do have revenue-to-cost ratios in excess of 1, because again there are elements of rate design that are not included in the cost allocation study.  And that's been the case since 

EBO-499.


MR. LYLE:  In excess of 1, but not as high as 1.9?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.


MR. LYLE:  And do you have a sense of how far in excess of 1 they are?


MR. KITCHEN:  Not from memory, no.


MR. LYLE:  Is there any rate class that's close to 1.9:1?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, but I'm not sure that that has --that that necessarily is relevant.  The fact is that we don't allocate certain costs to them, but we do create rates, and the revenue‑to-cost ratio is a fallout.  We're not designing the rate to produce a particular

revenue‑to-cost ratio.


MR. LYLE:  And you would agree with me, then, that rate design is in some ways an art and in some ways a science?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. LYLE:  It's a bit of both?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. LYLE:  And you're attempting to ensure that this customer provides a reasonable contribution to the cost of the assets used but not allocated?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. LYLE:  And when you did your design, and it came out with a 1.9:1 revenue‑to‑cost ratio, did that give you any pause?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, because, in general, I knew that the revenue-to-cost ratio would be in excess of 1 because of those elements that are not included in the cost study.


It wasn't part of my consideration in terms of whether or not the rate design was appropriate.


MR. LYLE:  It's more than ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  In terms of principle, the principle is that they need ‑‑ that there should be a contribution to fixed‑cost recovery through the transportation commodity charge and the demand charge.  The fact that there are no costs allocated, it's -- it just turns out that you'll have a high revenue‑to-cost ratio.


MR. LYLE:  In fact, a higher revenue-to-cost ratio than any other class that you can ...


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. LYLE:  And looking back up the page, then, again to line 2, and going over to column E, this is M16 west of Dawn, and I understand $149,000 worth of costs have been allocated related to the demand charge.  And I take it those are costs related to the Panhandle system; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. LYLE:  And going over to line H ‑‑ sorry, column H on line 2, you're proposing to collect revenue relating to the demand charge of $132,000?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. LYLE:  And then turning down to line 2, as Mr. Budd has already described, at column E you've allocated costs of $2,000, and you're proposing, in column H, to recover revenues of $79,000?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  Again, we're not allocating the peak day costs to the rate class.  If we did allocate the peak day costs to the rate class, based on their demands, the situation would be entirely reversed.  You would have a huge cost allocation and a lower rate, and a revenue-to-cost ratio significantly less than 1.  It's not -- that why I'm saying that the revenue-to-cost ratio isn't necessarily relevant.  I can just as easily allocate costs, based on current methodology, and result in a higher allocated cost, but not affect the rate.


I don't think that's appropriate, because that would be inconsistent with our cost allocation methodologies, which allocate costs to customers based on who drives those costs.  And the M16 customer is not driving the costs, but they are using the facilities.


MR. LYLE:  But when you're engaged in the exercise of determining what is a reasonable contribution, you're engaged in a judgment exercise?


MR. KITCHEN:  There is judgment involved, yes, but we were striving to come up with the lowest rate within Board‑approved methodology.


MR. LYLE:  And there's no right or wrong answer?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's essentially true.  We took the lowest rate that we could find for transportation service within the cost study, as our guide.


MR. LYLE:  And you have said, well, one principle we want to ensure is, in order to balance the principle of rates reflecting costs with the principle of reasonable contribution, we don't want the revenue-to-cost ratio to be over 1.5:1.  That would also be, potentially, a defensible position?


MR. KITCHEN:  I suppose, although I don't generally look ‑‑ I don't solve for revenue-to-cost ratio in the rate design.


MR. LYLE:  That's fair.  And just while we're on this table, gentlemen, I note that the volumes for the M16 west of Dawn class are very similar to the volumes for M16 east of Dawn.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. LYLE:  Does Enbridge have significantly greater storage capacity than is proposed for Tribute?


MR. KITCHEN:  I believe the Enbridge pool is approximately 1.6 Bcf and the Tribute pool is approximately 1.8.  So they're not significantly different.


MR. LYLE:  Thank you.  I just want to briefly turn you, then, to Mr. Knecht's pre‑filed evidence, turning you to page 6 of that document and the first paragraph under the heading in the middle of the page.  I think you've already agreed to the statement in the third sentence in that paragraph, that:

"UFG charge is going to be imposed as the gas flows into and out of the pool, and when the consumer transports the gas from Dawn to the burner tip." 


Am I correct you agree to that statement?


MR. KITCHEN:  The transportation service to Tribute, there will be UFG on the transport to the pool, the transport from the pool.  Once it gets to Dawn, when a customer moves it off our system, then there will be UFG on that service, as well.  If that's what you're referring to, I would agree.


MR. LYLE:  That is what I'm referring to.


And Mr. Knecht has characterized that as "pancaking."  Can you tell me what's your understanding of that term, and whether you agree with Mr. Knecht's characterization?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think that UFG for in‑franchise customers can potentially have four layers to it, once on delivery, once on injection, once on withdrawal, and once on delivery to the customer.  To the extent that you're not ‑‑ so there's four layers of UFG.


But all those layers are included in determining the UFG factor that is determined in rates.  If a customer's not injecting into storage, Union storage, then there will be two layers.  There will be the transport to a pool and transport from a pool, as there is in the case with Enbridge, or the M16 customer.


To the extent that another customer takes another service, then there will be another UFG charge, but it's not related at all to the M16 service.  It's another customer contracting for another service.  And UFG is recovered from services that Union contracts for.


So I agree that there is a layering of UFG, depending on the activity that you're taking service for on the system.

But in terms of characterizing it as "pancake" three times here for the M16 customer, I don't agree, because, once the gas is at Dawn, we don't know what's going to happen to it.  It could be moved off on another company's facilities, not even on Union's facilities.  But if it is on Union's facilities, then there would be UFG charged on it, for that customer taking that service.

     MR. LYLE:  So, in your view, it wouldn't be fair to characterize what could happen with this M16 rate as some form of over-collection on UFG, or double-collection?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  It's consistent with how UFG is charged on all of the Union services.

     MR. LYLE:  No, I understand it's consistent with how it's charged.  But is there still, within that current framework that you have, the possibility that there could be some double-collection?

     MR. KITCHEN:  No, I don't believe so.

     MR. LYLE:  Can you explain why?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Because UFG is a cost that is shared by all customers.  And to the extent that we are using all of the activity -- all of the transportation activity that was contracted for on the system to allocate and recover that UFG, there can't be any double-counting of it.

     MR. LYLE:  Thank you.  

Those are all my questions.

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Lyle.

Just a couple of questions, panel.  I believe there was a statement by, I believe, Mr. Kitchen, about -- I did not solve for revenue-to-cost ratio in the rate design.  I think that’s --

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- that’s -- if it's not close, it's pretty close paraphrasing.  And I think Mr. Lyle went after this as to, if you do have a ratio, a result of 2, 2:1, doesn't that give you a reason for pause?  And I believe your answer was, no.

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  And it doesn't -- it doesn't give me reason for cause [sic] because -- in this case because I'm not reflecting all of the costs in the cost study through the improved methodology, which is not to allocate demand-related costs for peak day when those facilities aren't being used by the customer for peak day.

It's really the difference between rate design and cost allocation.  If I -- put another way, if we -- and when I was explaining this to Mr. Lyle -- the point is, if we, say, for example, allocated Dawn-Trafalgar design-day demands to M16 customers based on their summer volumes, then there would be a large increase in the allocated costs, with no impact on the rate.  And the result would be a much lower revenue-to-cost ratio.  

So when I say I don't solve for it, I'm trying to come up with a rate that is just and reasonable, that I can bring forward and testify to.  But I'm not trying to corrupt the cost-allocation process in that way; in other words, feeding the costs that aren't real back into the cost study.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And what has the Board said over the years in terms of revenue-to-cost ratio, in terms of rate-design proposals that --

     MR. KITCHEN:  For in-franchise customers there has been a -- I believe the Board has looked at revenue-to-cost ratios and supported them being close to unity.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So, I guess, how's the principle different?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, the principle is different because, with the current cost study that we have in -- that we brought forward in 4/99, there were elements of rate design that were removed from the cost study.  And at that time, we led evidence that that would result in revenue-to-cost ratios in excess of one.  In that case it was for M13 customers.

Prior to 4/99, the ex-franchise rates were designed outside of the cost study.  And by design, the

revenue-to-cost ratio was forced to 1.  In other words, we'd calculate the rate, take the revenue, put it in as a cost, and that would be -- it would, essentially, force the revenue-to-cost ratio to one.

We changed that in 4/99, and no longer put those elements of rate design in the cost study.  So it necessarily creates a disconnect between the cost study and the rate design for M13, and now for M16.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You do have some interruptible rates --

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- on the distribution side?  So they're not allocating costs and capacity of costs, necessarily, but -- and still there's a value of service component associated with that service.  People don't cause a cost but they use it, and therefore there's an element of fairness.

But the Board has said, keep that as close to 1 as possible, over the years, hasn't it?

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And that's why I guess my query is to, why should it be different from for other rate classes?  But I've got your answer on the record, unless you want to add anything.

     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  I think we have to be clear here that the revenue that is generated in excess of the -- in excess of allocated costs is used to reduce in-franchise rates, because those are the customers that are --

     MR. VLAHOS:  No, I understand that.  I'm not implying that the money goes to the Union pocket.  It’s a zero sum game.  That’s fair.

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And I believe that it was Mr. Poredos, the discussion about the connection between the, I guess, the Ashfield Pool, with the Dawn-Trafalgar line, and the discussion about compression.  I just want to -- it's a very elementary question.  It just shows my ignorance.   But if I want to have -- connect directly to the system from Ashfield Pool to the Dawn-Trafalgar, then I cannot use the Forest-Hensall-Goderich line?  Or can I use the same line at compression?  Or do I have to build a brand new line?

     MR. POREDOS:  Well, there's both options available.  There is an option of building a brand new line, connecting to the Dawn-Trafalgar system.  That line would then have to operate at the maximum operating pressure for

Dawn-Trafalgar system, which is 895 PSI?

That would mean that they would have to compress at the pool to -- from pool pressure, to 895 --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. POREDOS:  -- to get it down to the Trafalgar lines.

The other option is -- which may not give you as much volume out of the pool, would be to use the existing lines and build a compressor site down at the Trafalgar lines, which would take gas out of the Stratford line at whatever pressure was prevailing that day - and you could make it variable - and compress it up to 895, or whatever pressure the line -- the transmission line was running at, to get it into the high-pressure line.

So there are various options.  It's very similar to, you know, the exchange service.  They could build their own line from Goderich to Dawn, if they wanted to, as Enbridge did, which, obviously, is not a viable option in terms of cost.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So in option B, the compressor has to be on the site of the Dawn-Trafalgar line, not on the site of the pool?

     MR. POREDOS:  In option B, where I'm compressing into the Dawn-Trafalgar system?

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's right.  Yes.

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And you're still using the Forest-Hensall-Goderich line?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  All right.  And I don't seek any evidence that you're not comfortable with, but in terms of cost considerations, what are we talking about, a ratio of 1:5, or, you know, option B:A?

     MR. POREDOS:  Excuse me.  I'm not sure we did a cost estimate on that, exactly.

We didn't do a cost estimate, from what I understand, at the -- of the compression at the Dawn-Trafalgar system.  However, we did do an estimate of just the high-pressure line, 895 line, that would have to come from the pool to Dawn, running at the same pressure, which was about $15 million, I believe.  That does not include compression that they would have to install at their site to lift the gas from pool pressure to 895, or the prevailing line pressure.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And that would be, what, another 15?  Less than 15?  I'm just looking for direction here.

     MR. POREDOS:  In terms of the compression, you would really have to know what the pool pressure is and the compression ratios.  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Double the cost.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Let the witness -- somebody said “double the cost” from the audience, but that “double the cost”, that's not evidence.

     MR. POREDOS:  I'm not going to testify to that, but if they believe that, I guess that's their opinion.

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  Okay.  Thank you very much for that. 

Any redirect, Mr. Smith? 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, I'll be quite brief.


Mr. Kitchen, you were asked a number of questions by Ms. Paulus about the difference between M13 and M16 service, and, in particular, in relation to interruptible versus firm service.  And I was wanting to know whether or not there's been a request for firm service, to your knowledge, by an M13 customer, including by Northern Cross?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, not to my knowledge.


MR. SMITH:  And if there had been such a request, can you tell me, directionally, at least, how would that firm service be priced in relation to interruptible service?


MR. KITCHEN:  I would expect that the firm price would be at a premium to the interruptible price, and perhaps similar in magnitude to the M16 rate.


MR. SMITH:  Also, Mr. Kitchen, in response to a question from Mr. Budd about the impact that adding a meter would have on UFG, you indicated that you felt it was not relevant from a rate design perspective, and you answered some questions also from the Board on that issue.
Notwithstanding that answer from a rate design perspective, is it nevertheless possible that Union's overall UFG could be impacted by additional flow through a meter?


MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent that there is additional volumes flowing through a new meter or a meter, there will be the potential for UFG.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions on re‑examination.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


The Panel is excused, with our thanks, subject to any recalls.  Those things do happen once in a while.  So ...


MR. SMITH:  Just on that last issue, Mr. Chairman, I think it's our intention, we have not been in a position to answer the undertaking as yet, but certainly people at Union are working on the answer, and Mr. Kitchen, I think, is going to be sticking around and hopefully will be in a position to provide an answer that I can provide, perhaps, tomorrow.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, hopefully that will be here before argument.


MR. SMITH:  That's certainly our hope, as well.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you, Panel.  Mr. Lyle, where do we go from here?


MR. LYLE:  I believe we have a witness being put up by Tribute, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  One witness, Mr. Budd?


MR. BUDD:  Two, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. VLAHOS:  Two?


MR. BUDD:  Yeah.


MR. SMITH:  Should we take a minute to reshuffle the deck here?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yeah, that's a good idea.  Just give us a road map, Mr. Budd.  You've got two witnesses?


MR. BUDD:  The strategy seems to be unfolding that maybe we take a five‑minute break to get everybody switched around, and we will -- or even ten minutes if the Board would like.


We would then have some very limited direct evidence, possibly 15 minutes, just to highlight what it is the position of the company is, and then be available for cross‑examination.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Well, it doesn't appear that this Panel will be done today.  Why don't we take our afternoon break now, and we hope to finish a little earlier today.


MR. BUDD:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  No later than 4:30, so let's take a 20‑minute break now, and come back and just go until about 4:30, no later.


MR. BUDD:  Sure.  Thank you, sir.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you. 


‑‑‑ Break taken at 2:25 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:47 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

We appear to be missing a key player here.  Oh, here is Mr. Budd.  He moved.

MR. BUDD:  I wasn't going to, Mr. Chair, but my friend Mr. Smith suggested I should, so I did.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Are you ready?

MR. BUDD:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.

TRIBUTE RESOURCES LTD. PANEL 1; FISHER, KNECHT:


JAMES FISHER; Sworn.


ROBERT KNECHT; Affirmed.


EXAMINATION BY MR. BUDD:

MR. BUDD:  If I could just state the names of the witnesses.  Seated closest to the Board is Robert Knecht, who is the treasurer and principal of Industrial Economics of Cambridge, Massachusetts.  And beside him, to his right, is James or Jamie Fisher, who has acted as a consultant to Tribute Resources in its previous proceedings before the Board, and then, as well, as a support witness here.  And if I could ask them to be sworn by Ms. Nowina.  Thank you.

Mr. Chairman, what I would propose to do, with the Board's indulgence, is just briefly review the credentials of these gentlemen and ask them some questions, and then immediately turn them over for cross-examination.

MR. VLAHOS:  This will be fine, Mr. Budd.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.

Let me just begin with you, Mr. Fisher, if I might, sir.  You are a Professional Engineer; is that correct?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  And you've been assisting Tribute Resources in respect of its applications for storage?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  And in terms of your employment or past employment, I take it -- I understand you were employed at Union Gas at some point; is that correct?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  And what were your responsibilities at Union Gas when you were there?

MR. FISHER:  I designed and built natural gas storage facilities.

MR. BUDD:  I see.  And you've currently accepted -- moved to and accepted a job with TransCanada; is that correct?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  And you're based in Calgary.

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  And what is your current role there?

MR. FISHER:  I'm responsible for marketing the natural gas storage they own in Alberta.

MR. BUDD:  I see.  And is it fair to say that you're knowledgeable on issues in respect to NOVA?

MR. FISHER:  I have strong opinions, yes.

MR. BUDD:  All right.  And sir, you prepared evidence and responses to interrogatories in this proceeding; is that correct?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:  And do you have any revisions or amendments that you would like to make to those?

MR. FISHER:  None.  No.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  And so you would adapt your evidence and responses in your evidence as responses in this proceeding?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. BUDD:
 Thank you.

A couple of questions to you, before I turn to Mr. Knecht.  Mr. Fisher, you heard, during the course of this proceeding, a conclusion from the witnesses before you in respect of who the storage contractors are in respect of NOVA.  And Union, I believe, had indicated that they were producers.  Would you just provide your views to the Board on that?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.  I'd like to begin by saying I apologize if my behaviour is at any point inappropriate.  It's not my normal forum for doing things, and I don't intend to show any disrespect to the Board or Union or the intervenors.

MR. VLAHOS:  None was taken, Mr. Fisher.

MR. FISHER:  Very good.  Thank you.

With respect to the question, I think it's important for the Board to recognize one thing about this asset.  There's a gas production area in Alberta and British Columbia, and there's a broad consumption area, but let's narrow it down to Ontario.  And it's connected by a couple of hunks of steel, TransCanada, and Alliance.  The needs at the inlet to the pipe and the needs at the outlet of the pipe are identical.  They need to balance between the amount of gas available and the amount of gas that is required.

In addition to that physical requirement, there is an active market that draws people from New York City, Chicago, Calgary, Toronto, et cetera.  They've participated in that market, and they will execute financial transactions purely on a speculative basis.

On the NOVA system, yes, there are shippers -- the producers.  They put physical into the system.  But the majority of people who actively use the system are, in fact, the marketers:  the banks, the physical counter-parties, et cetera.  The same people that are active in Ontario.  And I think that's the point I'm trying to make here is, the people who are using storage in Alberta are the same people that will use it here in Ontario; same people using Union and Enbridge storage today.

The benefits that accrue to the people behind the system in Alberta are mirror image to the benefits to the people here in Ontario.  It offers system integrity, liquidity to the markets, et cetera.  But I think it's important to recognize that the distinctions between Alberta storage and Ontario storage are not as broad, perhaps, as other people would argue.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  And I just have one other question for you, sir.

As an engineer who, indeed, used to work at Union Gas, do you have any comment in respect of the subject about the reliability of Tribute's facility once it's up and  constructed, in respect of the equipment and the facilities themselves?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.  As indicated in the evidence, the pressure of the FHG line will be a maximum of 490 pounds.  The reality is that that line pressure is directly related to the consumption that's going on with respect to the consumers off of that system.

At the end of the withdrawal season for this asset, we're going to be looking at 2, 300 pounds pressure with respect to what the FHG system is flowing at.  And our pool, the North Tipperary pool, will initially be at about 1100 pounds, and stop withdrawals at 300 pounds.  In my opinion, we will never, ever, use a compressor for withdrawals.

So the idea that we need back-up compression for withdrawals is patently false.  It just is not so.  The storage pool that will govern the withdrawals onto the Union system out of North Tipp is going to have the exact same facility design that are on Union  pools.  We'll have a dehydrator, we'll have multiple flow-control valves, we'll have multiple filtration pieces of equipment, and it's my expectation that this will be one of the most reliable assets on -- connected to the Union system.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you, sir.

Mr. Knecht, if I could just turn to you for a moment, please.

In respect of your qualifications, sir, I understand that you hold an M.S. in management from the Sloan School of Management at MIT; is that correct?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes, sir.

MR. BUDD:  And your area of expertise focuses in applied economics and finance.  That's your educational background; is that right?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes, sir.

MR. BUDD:  And you also hold a Bachelor of Science, is it, in economics from M.I.T.?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  And prior to working at Industrial Economics as a principal, in 1989, you worked for some seven years as an economic and management consultant at a firm called Marshall Butler; is that right?

MR. KNECHT:  Marshall Bartlett.

MR. BUDD:  Marshall Bartlett.  And you also worked for a couple of years as an economist in the energy group of Data Resources, is that right?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUDD:  And throughout your career, sir, is that accurate that you have been retained by regulators to provide advice to regulators?

MR. KNECHT:  I guess I've been retained by regulators.  I have been retained by customer groups.  I have been retained by utility competitors.  I actually have been retained by Board Staff, here, in Ontario, once upon a time.  And I have been even retained by a small utility, also here in Ontario.  Let me see, back some years ago.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you, and your retainer by this Board Staff, the Ontario Energy Board, was approximately when, early 90s?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes, it was the early 1990s.

MR. BUDD:  And what did it deal with?  Do you recall at all, in general terms?

MR. KNECHT:  It was primarily focused on issues of cost allocation and rate design for natural gas utilities

-- natural gas distribution utilities.

MR. BUDD:  And Mr. Knecht, are you also familiar with the intricacies of the UFG topic?  Do you have experience in the area?


MR. KNECHT:  I have.  I have some experience with the allocation of unaccounted-for gas and have spent a fair amount of time on this assignment looking at Union's allocation of unaccounted-for gas.


MR. BUDD:  And in respect of your qualifications, would it be equally fair to say that you are a cost allocation or rate design expert?  You have expertise in that area?


MR. KNECHT:  I have testified on a number of occasions with respect to those matters.


MR. BUDD:  Okay.  And I take it you prepared evidence in this case and responses to interrogatories which were put to you?


MR. KNECHT:  I did.


MR. BUDD:  And do you have any corrections or revisions that you would like to make in respect of those filings?


MR. KNECHT:  No, I do not.


MR. BUDD:  And I take it you adopt, then, all of your evidence and answers to interrogatories that you put forward?


MR. KNECHT:  I do.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Now, I understand, sir, that you would like to make a brief summary statement in respect of what you have filed and what you've heard.  Please go ahead.

     MR. KNECHT:  Thank you for this opportunity.  Thank you for -- all of the parties, for this opportunity to be back in Ontario after a bit of a hiatus.


I'd like to, if I may, try to summarize some of the key areas, I think, of disagreement between Union and myself with respect to developing the M16 rates for service east of Dawn.


As I mentioned in my pre‑filed evidence, I think Union did an excellent job of laying out physically how the flows would work, conceptually how the costs would be incurred, and that they have implemented their cost allocation scheme in a manner that is consistent with the treatment of other transportation and consuming customers.  And, in fact, they have also implemented the rate design recommendations, where they are not cost‑based, with some reasonable consistency with how other transportation and consuming customers are treated.


And I guess that's the crux of the difference between the evidence that I have laid out, the framework that I have adopted in my pre‑filed evidence, and Union's position, is that Union is essentially treating storage customers like it would any other transportation or consuming customer.  And my view is that a better way to look at it and a more accurate way to look at it, from the perspective of trying to develop third party storage in Ontario, is to look at it as a competitor to Union, rather than as a customer.


And that puts the framework for both cost allocation issues and for rate design issues in a framework of trying to create a competitive equilibrium that will allow, as Union suggests, economic storage facilities to be developed.  And we can talk about the individual pieces of that, but, conceptually, that's the point that I want to make; is that, when looking at cost allocation and when looking at rate design issues, this potential project is a competitor to Union and should be treated on a level playing field, as such.


The key cost allocation issues that have come up are fuel costs and unaccounted-for gas costs; probably getting tired of hearing about unaccounted-for gas.


The fuel cost issue we detailed this morning with the Union panel.  Union physically ships the gas from Dawn to the pool.  It probably incurs ‑‑ it certainly incurs fuel costs associated with shipping the volumes in that direction in the summer.  However, in the winter, the storage pool allows Union to reduce its flow on the Dawn‑Trafalgar line as far as Stratford, and, therefore, the pool is providing a fuel‑cost savings.  And because the fuel costs are much higher in the winter than they are in the summer, by quite a large number, on the order of 5 cents a gigajoule, that embedded storage provider is providing a fuel cost savings to all of the customers on the system.


Now, I understand Union's argument is that that's how we treat all of the counter flows on the system, but the reason that I would distinguish the storage customers is because they are a competitor.  And if a competitor is providing a benefit to all of the system customers, it should be recognized.


Let me turn to the unaccounted-for gas piece.  And we detailed at some length that flows of gas can attract unaccounted-for gas costs up to four times, pancaking, if you will.


I've spent some time looking at Union's system.  I believe that I now -- Union's allocation of unaccounted‑for gas, I believe I now understand how it works.  I believe that Union's allocation of unaccounted‑for gas has a conceptual inconsistency built into it, because it is charging for flows going into storage and coming out of storage, but not passing those on directly to storage‑using customers.


However, this may not be the proceeding to address the whole issue of how unaccounted‑for gas gets allocated to all of the rate classes.


And so what I am trying to propose here is a way to treat M16 storage consistently with how Union treats its own storage.  And as you heard described this morning, Union assigns two passes of UFG to its own storage and is assigning two pass to M16's storage.


However, somewhere in those unaccounted-for gas that Union has are unaccounted‑for gas costs associated with the storage operation itself, and we don't know how much those are.  And no one is willing to venture a guess as to how big a factor that is, but, nevertheless, conceptually, there are losses from the storage operation itself.


So it seemed to me that the way to solve this problem ‑‑ and because M16 customers would incur their own storage costs, their own storage‑related unaccounted‑for gas costs, that, for the purposes of this proceeding, the best approach would be to simply assign one pass of Union's unaccounted‑for gas costs to the M16 customers and hold back one pass of unaccounted‑for gas to reflect the storage costs associated with the M16 customers.


And in that way, at least on a conceptual basis, we balance the playing field, and we've assigned the same unaccounted‑for gas costs to Union storage and to M16 storage.


To be honest, why costs get assigned to Union ‑‑ UFG costs get assigned to M16, to its own storage, two passes, I don't know, and I guess I would encourage the Board to take a look at that at the next rates case.


So that's on the cost side and the basic disagreements that I have with Union.  


On the rate side, as we detailed, Union is proposing a 2.5 cent per gigajoule charge for flows from the pool back to Dawn, for which there aren't any costs, since those flows occur by displacement.  And it's proposing a demand charge for use of the Dawn‑Trafalgar line in the summer, and, again, because there is excess capacity on that line, that attracts no costs in Union's cost allocation study.  And while I realize the numbers are in a little bit of a flux at this stage, it's about 7 cent a gigajoule that is being assigned to M16 customers for these rates that really have no cost basis and -- for these rates that really have no cost basis.


And I've characterized them as value of service rates.  Union has in places also characterized them as value of service rates.

The major issue that I'd raise with respect to

value-of-service rates, in the context of M16 customers being competitors of Union, is that now Union is imposing non-cost rates on a competitor.  And it's giving its storage something of a competitive advantage relative to these competitors, and putting these competitors at a competitive disadvantage.

The other issues, I think, that I'd like the Board to consider when looking at the value of service rates is that Union and the Board and many parties to the Natural Gas Forum have all encouraged, or want to encourage, reasonable development of embedded storage, and it's just not clear to me that imposing a value-of-service charge on the order of 7 cents a gigajoule is consistent with that philosophy.

So I think that summarizes the differences that I have.  And with that framework, I think that the design proposals that are in my pre-filed evidence are what I recommend for the Board.

MR. BUDD:  Thank you, Mr. Knecht.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the Panel.  Those are all the questions in direct that I have.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Budd.

Mr. Smith, I'd just like to know, you would like to go first, or towards the end but before Mr. Lyle?

MR. SMITH:  Well, we've actually talked about that,  Mr. Chairman.  And it was -- I think everyone was agreed I would go towards the end, just before Mr. Lyle.  I would go towards the end, just before Mr. Lyle.  But -- and, in fact, I believe Mr. Janigan was up to go first.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, then.  Mr. Janigan?

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR JANIGAN:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'd like to direct these questions, initially, to Mr. Fisher.

Mr. Fisher, how much do you think the M16 rates should be?

MR. FISHER:  My honest assessment, since I first became familiar with this issue, is, there are no real costs, period.

I'm getting educated on unaccounted-for gas.  I'm not sure I want to be, but I am nonetheless.  I still believe that the rate should be zero.  I look in Alberta, and that's what NOVA charges.  They actually will credit shippers in their meter costs.  So my answer to your question, I think it should be zero.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I believe your view on this is informed, to some extent, by your opinion that embedded storage is unique, and should be treated in a unique fashion?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And would you agree that, to the extent that the embedded storage provider is successful in getting unique treatment by the Board, that, conceptually, Union's storage should be subject to the same unique treatment?

MR. FISHER:  I agree with that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And, Mr. Fisher, have you had any experience in designing rates?

MR. FISHER:  I can't even behave properly in a meeting room.  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you haven't produced any cost-allocation studies?

MR. FISHER:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:   Okay.

Mr. Knecht, I believe you indicated, and -- both in your evidence and in your direct evidence today, that you believe that the unaccounted-for gas allocation approach to the M16 customers should be the same as that which applies to Union's own storage.  Am I correct on that?

MR. KNECHT:  The allocation method should be such that a level playing-field is created between Union storage and M16 storage providers.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I believe your evidence on page 7, if you could turn that up for me, notes that:

"Union indicates that it is proposing to apply the same UFG allocation approach to M16 customers as it applies to its own storage.  Conceptually, I agree that this is a generally reasonable approach, as it will reduce competitive distortions between Union and embedded storage providers.  That is, a customer who receives gas supplied by a embedded storage customer should have the UFG charge imposed on the same number of times as the customer who receives gas from Union's own storage facilities.  Further, Union should treat both in-franchise and ex-franchise and bundled and unbundled customers consistently with respect to UFG cost allocation, for reasons of equity."

You still believe that, do you not?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes, I do.  The only caveat that I would make there is that the -- and what I proposed today was that the M16 customers are, essentially, attracting a UFG charge that's related to their own costs, rather than one that's related to Union's costs.  So that the playing-field is balanced.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I believe the evidence today was that Union hasn't allocated any UFG storage to these -- to the M16 customers.  Am I correct on that?

MR. KNECHT:  I believe I heard an answer to that effect, although it wasn't clear that the Union witnesses understood the question –

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. KNECHT:  -- and let me try to elaborate on that -- is that Union has unaccounted-for gas.  It doesn't know where it comes from.  When they did try to parse it up into its pieces and look at the different pieces, one of the pieces where storage can -- where unaccounted-for gas can occur is for gas in storage.

And therefore, since there are some costs - we don't know how much, but there are some costs in -- related to Union's storage facilities - when it allocates those out to all of its customers, it must necessarily be including those costs in the UFG -- each UFG pass.

MR. JANIGAN:  So, in fact, you dispute Union's assertion that they don't allocate UFG costs -- storage to M16 customers?

MR. KNECHT:  We'd have to go back and look at the transcript, but I believe that Union would agree that it's got some -- it has some UFG costs of unknown magnitude related to its storage operation, and that is in the UFG cost pool that gets assigned to all of the customers.

I heard the question this morning, and answer this morning, and so I am disputing it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Are you aware of any utility that's able to segregate out storage costs from their UFG?

MR. KNECHT:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Knecht, are you familiar with situations where a customer uses a facility, but the customer use is not a cost-driver of that facility?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would you agree that it would be preferable not to allocate artificial costs to that customer on the basis of causality?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  However, would you agree that it is logical to request that they pay something towards the use of the facility?

MR. KNECHT:  I don't know if it's logical.  It is, certainly -- I believe I say in my evidence that it is relatively common.  But in most of those cases, and in evaluating the magnitude of that contribution, you have a value-of-service rate-design issue.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would "equitable" be a better word of choice?

MR. KNECHT:  Being of an economics bent, I prefer to think of it as a value-of-service charge rather than a fairness charge, without trying to get into the heads of what people think is fair.


MR. JANIGAN:  And this is a customary rate design adjustment carried out by many utilities in their rate‑making; would you agree?


MR. KNECHT:  As a ‑‑ again, yes, as a theoretical matter.  The question, I think, that I lay out in my evidence is not so much whether or not it happens.  It's to the extent that it happens.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. KNECHT:  And I'm much more concerned about doing it in a case where you have competitive issues than where you do not have competitive issues.


MR. JANIGAN:  But as soon as you embark upon this process where you're not allocating costs, and then picking up some kind of charge in rate design, I would assume that you're not going to get a revenue‑to-cost ratio at unity; would you agree?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


MR. KNECHT:  You very rarely have a revenue‑to‑cost ratio of unity for any rates.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Panel.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are all my questions for this Panel.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Who's next?  Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  I guess that will be me. 


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. AIKEN:


MR. AIKEN:  Just a couple of questions, Mr. Knecht.  At the bottom of page 5 of your evidence, you talk about:

"... the fuel savings associated with the winter withdrawals from the embedded storage pools and the fact that they are not speculative; they do exist.  And if the gas is withdrawn from an embedded storage pool, it necessarily reduces Union's fuel costs in the winter.  And as a simple matter of cost causation, these costs should be recognized in the cost allocation study."


And I believe later on in your evidence you actually recommend that there should be a fuel credit paid for the winter deliveries from the Tipperary pool; is that correct?


MR. KNECHT:  The reason that I recommend ‑‑ yes, it's correct, to answer your question.  If I may elaborate?


MR. AIKEN:  Sure.  Go ahead.


MR. KNECHT:  Is that Union incurs the fuel cost when it ships the gas to the FHG system, and it doesn't really see the credit until that gas is withdrawn from storage.  And in recognizing that there is an interruptible option under this tariff and that all the gas may not be withdrawn, it would not be appropriate to assign that credit to the M16 customer until Union actually receives the fuel cost savings.


MR. AIKEN:  Do you know if Union provides a similar credit to what you're proposing to the M13 rate class?


MR. KNECHT:  I do not know explicitly.  I believe it was Union's evidence this morning that they do not, but I have not checked.


MR. AIKEN:  Do you believe they should provide a fuel credit to the M13 rate class?


MR. KNECHT:  Again, you've gone outside the bounds of my testimony, and, therefore, I have no opinion one way or the other.


What I'd like to do is distinguish the M16 customers as competitors of Union from the other types of customers in Union, and thereby be able to use a cost allocation methodology that reflects cost causation.


MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct in assuming that the M16 customers ultimately sell their gas at Dawn, or that's one of their options?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Is that not also an option for M13 customers?  They produce into Union's system, they have a load‑balancing agreement with Union, and they can sell to a third party at Dawn?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So aren't, in fact, the M16 and M13 companies in competition with one another?  They're selling the same service.  So what's good for the M16 should be good for the M13 on a competitive basis; would that not be correct?


MR. FISHER:  I -- in my opinion, I should probably defer to Bob, but what's good for the goose, yeah.


MR. KNECHT:  I actually -- Mr. Aiken, I actually -- I think that's -- that that is correct, although remember that I have only proposed that the credit be equal to the actual fuel cost charge for the transportation.


And, again, I wasn't aware until this morning that Union's flows on the Dawn‑Trafalgar line are 365 days a year easterly.  So that the M13 customers, I believe, in Union's evidence, they had indicated that the flows might not be counter‑flowed to the normal direction of flow.


I believe their evidence this morning was that M16 customer ‑‑ M13 customers who are supplying the system east of Dawn should be providing fuel cost benefits.


Also, one other issue, when comparing rate M13 with rate M16, is that the margins of the two different businesses are quite significantly different.  But from a pure cost causation standpoint, I think you raise a good point, is that they would be providing a fuel cost savings.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you, Panel.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  Who would like to go next?


MR. DEROSE:  Mr. Chairman, I think I -- I'm right behind Mr. Mr. Janigan here.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeRose.  Go ahead. 


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DeROSE:


MR. DEROSE:  Mr. Fisher, I have a couple of questions about your description of the NOVA system being the same as the Union system.


First of all, can you tell me how many residential end users are supplied with gas from the NOVA system?


MR. FISHER:  All of them.


MR. DEROSE:  What portion of the NOVA gas system would have residential customers?  What would the makeup be?


MR. FISHER:  The inter-Alberta load is roughly 1-1/2 to 2 Bcf a day on a system that flows 13, 14 Bcf a day.


Of that, the residential portion would probably be a third to a half, so three, 500,000, something like that.


MR. DEROSE:  This is on the NOVA gas transmission limited line?


MR. FISHER:  They flow gas onto the distribution systems.


MR. DEROSE:  Well, okay.  Let me ask this question, then.


The NOVA gas transmission limited line, which is subject to the storage accountability resolution of the TTP, that does not have residential customers on that particular line, does it?


MR. FISHER:  It's similar to the Dawn‑Trafalgar system, in the sense that there is no houses that are fed directly off of it.


MR. DEROSE:  Right.


MR. FISHER:  But it does trickle down through to homes through the various pipes.


MR. DEROSE:  Well, the equivalent, to use your analogy, then, if the Dawn‑Trafalgar line had its own separate hearing, and separate stakeholder group and separate rate orders, that would be analogous to the NOVA system?


MR. FISHER:  I'm not sure I understand your question.


MR. DEROSE:  Well, let me back it up, then.


The NOVA gas transmission limited gas transportation tariff that is governed by TransCanada, my understanding is that that line has no residential end-users under any of those tariffs.  Is that correct?


MR. FISHER:  Correct.


MR. DEROSE:  And it has no commercial...


MR. FISHER:  No what?


MR. DEROSE:  ... end‑users.


MR. FISHER:  No commercial end-users.  


MR. DEROSE:  Is that correct?


MR. FISHER:  It's a transmission system.  It flows physical to the utilities.  So, no, it doesn't have any direct end users except in special circumstances.


MR. DEROSE:  And you're aware that Union's system is a distribution system and does have those type of end users?


MR. FISHER:  Well, I'm not trying to be argumentative.  There are those that believe the Dawn to Parkway system is a transmission system.


MR. DEROSE:  So as we understand your argument, you believe that Dawn‑Trafalgar is a transmission system even though it is regulated within a larger distribution system?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.  Definitely.


MR. DEROSE:  You do recognize that as it's regulated by the OEB and is part of Union's distribution system, that any UFG charges are shared by residential customer classes and commercial customer classes and industrial customer classes for Union?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. DEROSE:  Whether they arise going into the Dawn-Trafalgar system, coming out of the Dawn-Trafalgar system, or elsewhere in the distribution system?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  I thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Rowe?

MR. ROWE:  No questions, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  No questions.  Mr. Ross?

MR. ROSS:  No questions, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if it would be possible -- if we could remove our jackets?

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, I neglected to indicate so.  Mr. Janigan, you've been here too often, you should -- you don't have to ask anymore.  Yes, this room gets quite a bit hotter in the afternoon because of the way that the sun travels, so you're welcome to lighten up.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Only ladies and gentlemen.  I was once at a proceeding where the Chair -- it was a different Board.

MR. VLAHOS:  Is this off the record?  Okay, back on the record.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH: 

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Fisher, if I could just start with you for a minute.

You, I think quite fairly, told Mr. Janigan that you have no particular expertise in cost allocation or rate design; correct?

MR. FISHER:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you indicated to my friend, Mr. Budd, that you had worked for Union Gas; that's correct?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you were asked to file your curriculum vitae in this proceeding; correct?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that was an interrogatory, and you did that?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I took a look at your c.v.  And is it fair to say that you last worked for Union in 1992, I believe it is?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And since then you've never been employed by Union, and, certainly, have never acted as a consultant for Union; is that correct?

MR. FISHER:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And at the time you were employed by Union, you were, I guess -- you left Union and did your Master's of Business Administration.

MR. FISHER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And in terms of Union's system, I take it you would agree with me -- at least knowledge of the operational aspects of Union's system -- that Messrs. Legg and Poredos that you heard testify today would have considerably more expertise with respect to Union's system than you do.

MR. FISHER:  I'm an engineer that's welded some of the biggest fittings on the pipe.  I'm note sure what their roles are, so -- what I do understand, I'm comfortable with current operations, how much gas goes to Parkway in the summer.  You know, I'm sure that's changed with vector.  But it's probable I understand the pipe better than those two, in the sense that I built it.  So I would differ there.

MR. SMITH:  I just wanted to make sure, you're telling me you understand Union's integrated distribution system better than Mr. Poredos who's worked there since 1980.  Is that your evidence?

MR. FISHER:  I think what I said was, I understand aspects of the system.  And specifically, Dawn to Parkway, the big pipe, and then the FHG pipe itself -- you know, we talk about how this pool's going to operate.  And I can assure you that, if you're not talking to the right person in planning at Union, you really have no idea for what this asset is capable of doing.  So my experience working within the company and contacts I have, I think, can help me understand it to a very high degree.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I take it, sir, your counsel didn't put any questions to Mr. Legg with respect to his qualifications to talk about Union's operational systems, or, in fact, the impact it would have on the FHG system, nor did your counsel put any questions to Mr. Poredos on that issue.  So I take it you don't today dispute the qualifications and the evidence that they gave.

MR. FISHER:  No.  Yeah I can have a different opinion than them, though.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sure you do, sir.  You also commented on NOVA.  And I take it, at least in part, sir, that your evidence is based on the documents that you've attached to your evidence in-chief?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I'm correct that you were asked an interrogatory about your involvement in the preparation of those documents?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, in fact, you had no preparation -- no input into the preparation of those documents at all, did you?

MR. FISHER:  I had nothing at all to do with their preparation, no.

MR. SMITH:  In fact, your familiarity with the documents comes from pulling them off the website and reading them.

MR. FISHER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So you weren't the author of the document?

MR. FISHER:  No.

MR. SMITH:  You weren't part of the committee that co-authored the document?

MR. FISHER:  No.

MR. SMITH:  And you certainly never testified to the documents, other than today?

MR. FISHER:  No.

MR. SMITH:  I had a final question for you, Mr. Fisher.  You commented on the safety and reliability of the FH -- sorry, not of the FHG, of Tribute's pool.  You recall giving that evidence?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me, sir, how many wellheads Tribute has?

MR. FISHER:  One.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And can you tell me what the impact of that wellhead would be, if it froze over?  Am I correct that that would result in an outage across Union's system in the FHG area?

MR. FISHER:  I would agree that the single wellhead is the weakest part of the design for this pool.  We're not going to get a freeze-off at the wellhead, because the pressure cut occurs at the station itself.  But that said, it is a single point, and it represents the greatest risk.

My -- I know you're not asking this.  When we have to pay a dime to move physical on Union's system, it necessarily impacts the project economics, and we have to cut where we can, if you will.  I believe that that triple leg horizontal well will perform 100 percent, but, you know, economics dictate that we hold off on the second well, which perhaps we'll put in in the future, just due to the money availability.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it just picking up on your last question -- your last answer, you haven't put that wellhead in, and, in fact, we know, because Tribute hasn't taken service yet, that you have no operational history at all as an embedded storage provider; correct?

MR. FISHER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And while I appreciate your comments about your best intentions, I take it you would agree with me that, from Union's perspective, it's fair that they would at least expect a track record of safety and reliability from Tribute?

MR. FISHER:  I would expect nothing less from Union Gas.  They're a good company, and they have a great system, and I respect it.

MR. SMITH:  And -- thank you very much.  And I take it that, at least -- that this will not be an issue at least until 2009; correct?

MR. FISHER:  I'm sorry, 2000 and –

MR. SMITH:  9.

MR. FISHER:  A couple of years into the future, you mean?  After it's operated?

MR. SMITH:  Well, 2009 is whatever it is.  3.9 years from now.  I take it we can agree on that?

MR. FISHER:  I don't understand your question, I guess.

MR. SMITH:  Well, the operational history, and the safety and security you're referring to, and the additional capacity that, at least implicitly, you're referring to, those are not even issues now, are they?  I mean, we know that Union has the capacity to serve this market at least until 2009; correct?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. KNECHT:  If I could just interrupt briefly here.  I think the issue -- it raises to mind Mr. Janigan's cross this morning with respect to incremental rates.

If a storage provider is providing long-term cost savings, that is, cost savings that reduce the demand on, or the expansion on, some pieces of Union's system, then embedded-cost-allocation methodologies would argue that those benefits be recognized right away.  Because under embedded-cost rate-making, it will provide those in the long term, much like a new distribution customer signing on to a distribution system, who doesn't cause any costs to be incurred, will still pay for them.

So that if you had a pure cost-allocation methodology that said:  This facility is providing long‑term cost savings, I would argue the cost allocation study should reflect that right away, and not when Union runs out of its excess storage.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Knecht.  I was actually going to turn to you now.


I understand your background is in economics; correct?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  You're not an engineer?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And while I take your last point, I take it you're not in a position to say, at least from an operational perspective --


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Smith, I think you're right between the two microphones, so choose, and choose wisely.


MR. SMITH:  I say, it's very rare that my voice doesn't carry sufficiently, and I think it's the acoustics in the room and the fact that I have a cold, so I'm not actually using ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  No, I think you were right between the two microphones.


MR. SMITH:  I will lean in, Mr. Chairman.


Mr. Knecht, I just wanted to confirm that your background was in economics and you're not an engineer.  When it comes to the issue of whether or not Tribute and the Tipperary pool will be able to provide the benefits that you are talking to, I take it you would defer, at least on that issue, to Mr. Fisher or to the Union witnesses?


MR. KNECHT:  I would certainly defer to someone with more engineering skill than myself.


However, from... my response was in respect of cost allocation methodologies, and, again, an embedded cost allocation methodology, if there is a true long‑term savings, it would normally be reflected in an embedded cost allocation study.


MR. SMITH:  Now, at footnote 2 of your evidence, Mr. Knecht ‑ I'd just like to confirm this for the record ‑ you indicate that the conclusions in this evidence are subject to ongoing analysis.


MR. KNECHT:  Yes, sir.


MR. SMITH:  And you say:

"I will update this evidence promptly if additional work results in a change in conclusions." 


Do you see that?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes, sir.


MR. SMITH:  And you were also asked an interrogatory about this statement as to when your conclusions would be finalized?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And the answer, without going to it, if I can just paraphrase, was:  There might be additional evidence that comes out in an informal discovery process.  To the extent that's not helpful, I expect there will be additional evidence elicited in cross‑examination and I'll finalize my position then.  


You recall that?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you gave some evidence, and you heard the cross‑examination this morning.


Now, I wanted to confirm that there's nothing else.


MR. KNECHT:  There is nothing else.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So it's in the record or in your written evidence, we can take it from that, for the purposes of argument?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes, sir.  I probably should have just asked that the footnote and the reference to completing the evidence should be struck.  But to the extent that informal discovery and cross‑examination added to my understanding, I included that in my opening statement.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Well, no criticism.  I just wanted it clear for the record.


Mr. Fisher was asked a question about whether or not he thought there should be ‑‑ or whether M16 customers should be charged a rate, and his answer was he thought it should be zero.


I'm going to ask you whether you agree with that statement.


MR. KNECHT:  Mr. Fisher and I have had this discussion on a number of occasions.  My proposal is as laid out in my evidence, which is the proposal is there.  So, by definition, it's not zero, and, therefore, I disagree with Mr. Fisher.


I don't disagree with Mr. Fisher, in that assessing ‑‑ in that looking at the real costs that this system would ‑‑ that a new M16 customer east of Dawn would impose on Union is anything greater than zero.  However, from a lot of different perspectives of cost allocation, rate design and balancing the playing field, I have made a proposal that is not zero.


MR. FISHER:  And we still disagree.


MR. SMITH:  I took that from his answer.


You were asked by Mr. Budd whether you were familiar with the intricacies of UFG.  Do you recall that?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I recall you hesitated somewhat.


MR. KNECHT:  I did.


MR. SMITH:  And I take it you hesitated because your expertise is in the area of economics and not engineering, as we've gone over?


MR. KNECHT:  Um, that's fair.  That is a fair statement, yes.


MR. SMITH:  And, in fact, I think if you look at the interrogatory 5.26 -- it's not necessary to turn it up, but I think you have looked at it.  And you'll see that that, in fact, was prepared by two parties, one an economist and one an engineer.  Are you familiar with that?  Certainly you can look it up if you would like.


MR. KNECHT:  Give me a moment.  Ah.  Which part of it are you referring to?


MR. SMITH:  Well, the first page says:  Prepared by Harrington Hrehor Engineering Consulting Group and Radian International L.L.C.  You may not be aware, but I'm going to suggest to you that Radian, in fact, is an engineering company and they were brought in to assist on the study to provide engineering expertise.  Do you have any knowledge of that?


MR. KNECHT:  I have no knowledge of that.  I will accept it, subject to ‑‑ well, I will accept it for the purposes of moving forward.


MR. SMITH:  And I take it you don't dispute the findings and conclusions in that report?  At least I didn't see anything in your testimony that would suggest you did.


MR. KNECHT:  I have not disputed any of the findings that are in this report.  However, this report, with respect to ‑‑ these two reports I do not believe specifically address the issue of whether unaccounted‑for gas allocation volumes, unaccounted‑for gas volumes, would include volumes injected into storage, into Union's storage, and volumes withdrawn from storage.


It may be in there, but I went through the reports and I didn't see it.


So, while I don't dispute the reports, I'm not sure that they fully validate Union's methodology.


MR. SMITH:  Well, are there particular portions of the report, if I were concerned about looking at Union's methodology, that I should turn to?


MR. KNECHT:  That's just it.  I don't believe they're there.  I don't believe the issue of counting volumes flowing into Union storage and coming out of Union storage are referenced in here as the allocation basis for UFG costs.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn, sir, to page 8 of your pre‑filed evidence?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes, sir.


MR. SMITH:  And I just want to make sure that I understand your recommendation.  You say at line 5, it is:

"I recommend that UFG costs allocated to M16 be based only on volumetric flows to the storage provider and that no UFG costs be allocated based on notional flows from the pool to Dawn." 


Do you see that?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.  


MR. SMITH:  And so I take it, sir, that applying that logic, that you would say that all customers who ‑‑ all customers who flow notionally to Dawn should not attract a UFG cost; correct?


MR. KNECHT:  No.  That's not correct.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So is it your position that customers who flow notionally should attract UFG, other than M16 customers?


MR. KNECHT:  I'm attempting to put the issue of allocating UFG costs to all of the other customer classes onto another proceeding.  What I'm saying, in this proceeding, is that for all customers who are storage customers and incur their own unaccounted‑for gas costs, they should only attract one pass of Union's unaccounted‑for gas costs, because Union's unaccounted‑for gas costs include some unaccounted‑for gas associated with Union's own storage.


MR. SMITH:  Just give me one moment, sir.


And you're aware, sir, that Union allocates UFG on a global basis, both storage and transportation, UFG?   


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.  Union creates a pool of unaccounted‑for gas costs that are related to a variety of factors, and then it allocates them based on a number which is unaccounted‑for gas volumes, and that includes notional flows, real flows, and injections into Union's storage and withdrawals from Union's storage.


And that is the methodology \that it\it that \use\.

MR. SMITH:  And I just want to make sure I have your answer to Mr. Janigan's question correct, which was that you weren't aware of any utility that was able to segregate out storage and transportation UFG?

MR. KNECHT:  I have not seen it.  That does not mean that it doesn't happen, but I have not seen anyone separate out storage-related UFG from other unaccounted-for gas.

MR. SMITH:  I want to make it clear for the record, for the purposes of this proceeding, you are not suggesting - or are you? - that people who flow notionally should not attract UFG?

MR. KNECHT:  Could you ask the question again, so I answer it correctly?

MR. SMITH:  Well, you're aware, sir, that Union charges UFG on contractual obligations?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you heard Mr. Kitchen's evidence that it does not charge on physical flows?  It charges on the basis of contractual flows; correct?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you also heard Mr. Kitchen's evidence that if that methodology were to change, there would be an increase in in-franchise rates?  You heard that, as well?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you don't have any reason to dispute that conclusion?

MR. KNECHT:  If we were to take on the issue of overall, unaccounted-for gas rates, and we were to try to resolve that in this proceeding, I don't know what would happen to in-franchise gas rates.  Looking at Union's methodology, it could have different -- any such change could have different impacts on residential customers versus industrial customers.

So the net effect overall might very well be an increase in unaccounted-for gas for in-franchise customers.  It might not.

What I'm proposing, and I think is in answer to the question you asked, is, Am I proposing a change to Union's overall unaccounted-for gas methodology?  And that is:  No.  What I'm proposing is that, for the purposes of this proceeding, the M16 class be assigned one pass of unaccounted-for gas.  And that's the only change that I'm proposing.

MR. SMITH:  The trouble I'm having is reconciling that statement with statements in your evidence in-chief, as I understand it, that all customers should be treated equitably and, essentially, in the same way.  And to my mind, I would think, applying the logic relating to physical or notional versus contractual flows, would lead you to the conclusion that you would not charge UFG on those other customers.  I understand what you're saying with respect to M16.  But logic seems to be that you wouldn't charge UFG.

MR. KNECHT:  I'm tempted to ask if there's a question.  But –

MR. SMITH:  Am I misunderstanding –

MR. KNECHT:  Let me respond to your argument here.  And the argument, the rationale and the logic that I'm using is that the difference between an M16 customer and other customers who face notional flows is that the M16 customer is incurring an unaccounted-for gas cost on its own that is very similar, conceptually - while we don't know the magnitude - conceptually, to the unaccounted-for gas costs that Union is incurring.  And, therefore, separate and distinct treatment for the purposes of this proceeding of M16 service is justified.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I understand what you're saying.  And I'd have to rely on the record with respect to Union's answer earlier.  But my understanding, at least, is that your recollection of the evidence -- we will have to see it, your recollection of the evidence may not be entirely accurate.  But I understand what you're saying.

I'd like to turn to the issue of capacity allocation.  I just have one quick question for you.

As an economist, assuming capacity is a scarce resource, would you agree with me that, all other things being equal, capacity should be allocated on the basis of who is prepared to pay the most for that limited resource?

MR. KNECHT:  No.

MR. SMITH:  You would not?

MR. KNECHT:  To the extent that you have -- if I may be permitted, if you will, let me compose my thoughts on this, as it's a complicated issue.  And it occurs in a number of different areas in regulatory economics.

When you have a situation in which you have either a constraint on the resource or the replacement cost, the incremental cost, is much larger than the embedded cost of the resource, you have the economic rent.  You have value associated with that asset.  And economics doesn't necessarily help for allocating that value.

What you suggested was, who should pay the most for it?  Well, that's one way to collect the rents, and then give them to someone.  But once you've done that, then you need to figure out who is going to benefit from those rents.

So that when you have a circumstance where you have a low-cost asset whose replacement cost is much higher, or the incremental cost is much higher, you have in many ways a policy decision as to who should benefit from that advantage.

And therefore, when you get into these circumstances, which happen a lot in regulatory economics, much of the judgment about who benefits from them is either done by the regulator or, occasionally, by the legislator, in assigning that economic rent, that value, among ratepayers or taxpayers, or whoever.

So one way to allocate capacity is to auction it off.  But again, you then circle back around to the question of:  who should benefit from the proceeds of that auction?

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask you this follow-up question.  In terms of capacity, I take it you would agree with me that it would be inefficient for Union to leave idle outstanding capacity, or to build outstanding capacity or excess capacity, simply on the basis that a customer might come along in the future, and might take that capacity?

MR. KNECHT:  I would agree with that.  Capacity comes in lumpy increments so that, in many cases, you need to add more.  But, in general, a utility should plan to meet the load growth and provide capacity, with a reasonable reserve to guarantee reliable service.

MR. SMITH:  And the notion that the utility should not build excess capacity purely on the hope that a customer might come along and take it is consistent with the allocation on a first-come, first-serve basis?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Those are all of my questions.

MR. FISHER:  Can I make a comment on that?

MR. VLAHOS:  If it suits the record, go ahead, Mister Fisher.

MR. FISHER:  We talk about excess capacity.  And I think it's possible people in the room are thinking that this FHG system is designed to flow 105 and the load is currently 100.  I think that's the impression people have.
The reality of this system is that the storage asset, when it's billed, will be using the pipe at a time of year when it usually runs empty.  And in the winter, it displaces the contractual supply of gas from Lobo.  So it's not a pipeline constraint at that point; it becomes a market constraint.

But I just -- I want to emphasize that this pipe, we're not filling it up to the point where it was over-designed.  What we're doing is using it at a time of the year when normally it's empty.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you.

Ms. Paulus?

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. PAULUS:


MS. PAULUS:  Thank you.  Can you hear me?


Mr. Fisher, I think ‑‑ I'm surprised to say that we probably have agreed on many points today.  That makes it nice.


MR. FISHER:  I'll agree with that one, too.


MS. PAULUS:  Would you agree with me that in general terms, in looking at how fees should be structured for transportation provided to storage providers, that we should look to the NOVA model?


MR. FISHER:  Well, every time I bring it up, I get shot down.  So I guess the short answer IS I don't think it's appropriate for people in Ontario to look outside.  I think they'll come up with it themselves, to be honest.  I think it's there as a passing information for the Board to consider, but I don't think we should look there for truth or rightness or anything.


MS. PAULUS:  Thank you ‑‑


MR. FISHER:  I agree with the way they do it in Alberta.


MS. PAULUS:  You agree with it.  And I think you gave evidence today that regardless of whether it was because you were looking at the NOVA model, which was attached to Tribute's evidence, or whether it was because of what you've learned now about cost allocation, that you thought that the cost allocation for storage providers should be zero, and that is how NOVA treats ‑‑


MR. FISHER:  Yes.


MS. PAULUS:  Thank you.


MR. FISHER:  Let me elaborate.  We keep talking unaccounted‑for gas.  And, you know, when I put the asset in here, is it going to increase?  And let's assume for argument's sake that it doesn't.


Well, by contributing to the unaccounted‑for gas in the one pass, I'm lowering the costs of all the other users, because I'm contributing to a pool that hasn't changed.  So from my point of view, all of those unaccounted-for payments made by the remaining group are lowered, necessarily, by what I paid.  That's how I see it.


MS. PAULUS:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Knecht, have you had an opportunity to consider how other jurisdictions, besides Alberta and Ontario, deal with transportation charges for storage providers?


MR. KNECHT:  No, I have not.


MS. PAULUS:  Mr. Fisher, I'd ask you to look at the response from Tribute to information request number 2 in response to the interrogatories posed by Northern Cross.


MR. FISHER:  Okay.


MS. PAULUS:  Do you have that available to you?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.


MS. PAULUS:  I have heard today that you weren't involved in the preparation of that response.


MR. FISHER:  Thank God, no.


MS. PAULUS:  But is it consistent with your understanding of how the NOVA system operates?


MR. FISHER:  Is what consistent?


MS. PAULUS:  I'll take you to the first sentence, then, of that response:

"Firm transportation in and out of storage is not available on the NOVA system."


MR. FISHER:  Correct.


MS. PAULUS:  And the second sentence:

"None of the available system capacity was built specifically to serve the needs of the storage operators, so they are not entitled to firm capacity, nor are they required to make a financial contribution."


MR. FISHER:  Correct.


MS. PAULUS:  And you have indicated that you have some knowledge of the Union system.  Based on your knowledge, was the Union system built to serve the needs of storage operators?


MR. FISHER:  No.


MS. PAULUS:  Thank you.


Mr. Fisher, you have indicated that you're familiar with NOVA's policies with respect to transportation.


Can you advise the Board whether NOVA has a policy for the allocation or apportionment of interruptible capacity between two parties that have each contracted for interruptible service?


MR. FISHER:  NOVA's system is complex, in the sense that there's the main lines that carry a broad amount of physical, and then there's the laterals that producers feed into.


Most producers can't be bothered to have a NOVA contract, so they just flow it on an IT basis.  And to my knowledge, IT always flows at whatever the posted rate is.


I'm not aware of any situations where there was competing needs for IT.  So there probably is a policy, but I'm not aware of it.


MS. PAULUS:  And, Mr. Fisher, on the NOVA system, there is provision for interruptible service.  Is it all of one kind, or is there a hierarchy or differential between the variation types of IT service?


MR. FISHER:  The IT differentiations I'm familiar with are based on term.  So what you do is you pay a portion, a percentage, of the firm total.


I have no knowledge beyond that.


MS. PAULUS:  Mr. Knecht, I understood from a portion of the testimony you've given now on cross‑examination that one of the areas of difference pertains to a 7 cent differential.  Is that correct?


MR. KNECHT:  The 7 cent figure is an approximate value for the two non cost‑based charges that Union has proposed, the 2.5 cent commodity charge and the commodity equivalent of the demand charge.  That comes to about 7 cents.


MS. PAULUS:  And do I understand that in coming to that conclusion, that you were looking at the proposal that Union has put forward with respect to what I'll refer to as the M16 firm proposal?


MR. KNECHT:  To be even more specific, firm M16 east of Dawn.


MS. PAULUS:  And so if you looked instead at the M16 interruptible rate that's proposed, would I have the same differential?


MR. KNECHT:  No.  The interruptible differential, the interruptible service as proposed by Union, does not include the demand charge, and, therefore, the value of service rate would just be 2.5 cents.


MS. PAULUS:  In your experience, when a party contracts for firm service on a system, is there usually a demand charge associated with that service, regardless of whether it's called "demand" or whether it's called something  else?


MR. KNECHT:  For customers who consume gas or customers who transport gas on a firm demand basis, there is a ‑‑ meaning that the service entitles them to ship or receive a fixed amount of gas on a peak day, there is usually a charge that reflects demand‑related costs.  It's not always a demand charge, but there is usually a charge that reflects demand‑related costs.


I think I would distinguish that kind of service from what M16 firm service is, which is more a guarantee of volumetrically assuring that the M16 firm customer will be allowed to withdraw his total volumes, his contractual volumes.


MS. PAULUS:  In both cases, however, we agree that generally the distinction between the firm rate and interruptible rate is that the firm rate is a higher class of service and has, generally, some additional component in the fee structure to reflect that higher class of service?

MR. KNECHT:  Again, I would agree that, as a general matter, for traditional utility rates, firm-service rates are higher than interruptible-service rates.  However, you need to be careful in this circumstance, because the storage pool -- an embedded storage pool is competing with the Union storage pool.  And, therefore, by establishing any kind of non-cost-based demand charge, you are skewing the competitive relationship between the two.

MS. PAULUS:  No further questions.  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Paulus.

Mr. Lyle?

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LYLE:

MR. LYLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Knecht, I want to start with you, and turn you to page 14 of your pre-filed evidence.  And right at the bottom of the page there, you indicate that:

"If the Board saw fit to impose a value for service rate you would recommend that that charge be no more than 2.5 cents per gigajoule."

And keeping in mind that you say earlier in the paragraph that there is no hard and fast way to come up with these numbers, can you give me some sense of your thinking that led you to 2.5 cents per gigajoule?

MR. KNECHT:  In looking at the allocated -- the level of allocated costs that we were talking about for this service, be it either Union's approach, which includes two passes of UFG and fuel costs, or my approach, which simply includes a single pass of UFG, I mean, it seemed to me that any value-of-service charge ought to be on the order of those cost charges.

MR. LYLE:  Now, this is a value-of-service charge, though, that is related to the usage of the Dawn-Trafalgar system, is it not?

MR. KNECHT:  It's a value-of-service charge for providing the service to and from.  The way I see the value-of-service charge is the overall provision of service.  I think, in practice, the M16 customer experiences that value when the gas gets displaced back to Dawn, and it can then transact at Dawn and earn its margin.

MR. LYLE:  I want to turn you, then, to page 16 of your evidence, and table 2.  Now, I'm gleaning from this table that, if the Board was to adopt the 2.5 cents per gigajoule as the demand charge, we'd be left with a revenue-to-cost ratio of 1.7:1?

MR. KNECHT:  Yes.

MR. LYLE:  And that's still quite a bit higher than unity, obviously.  Do you have any views of the considerations that the Board should bring when -- if it was to decide to set a rate that's significantly higher than unity on a revenue-to-cost ratio basis?

MR. KNECHT:  Again, as I mentioned, when thinking about the magnitude of the maximum of the upper bound on the value-of-service rates, that's what I was looking at.  I'm also, as I've mentioned on several occasions, concerned about competitive circumstances and the Board, I think, should consider that.

I also think the Board probably knows a lot more about some of the other value-of-service circumstances surrounding the development of storage in Ontario.  So I think the Board would need to look at all of those factors in determining whether, or what magnitude, a 

value-of-service rate ought to be.

Now, clearly 170 percent is quite high, compared to traditional approaches.  But the -- I don't -- again, I don't have a hard and fast rule.  I would not be -- if this is what the Board decided, and they thought they could live with this kind of a competitive disadvantage for M16 customers -- all I'm saying is this would be the upper bound.

So I guess my judgment is, for this kind of rate, 170 percent is the upper bound.

But again, I think that level of charge would be based on, you know, a relatively low allocation of costs, relative to Union's proposal.

MR. LYLE:  Certainly.

Now, turning to you, Mr. Fisher, I think you heard Mr. Legg earlier, talking about some of the issues for Union in being able to rely on the Tribute pool to serve its local customers.  And one of the issues was whether or not there would be back-up compression in place.  And am I correct in saying that there's no plan right now for the Tribute pool to have back-up compression?

MR. FISHER:  I could say, with a straight face, I have all the back-up compression in the world, because I don't need it.  So the compressor that's there is back-up.  But I wouldn't need to operate a compressor, so, no.  There's no compressor back-up allowed for, because it's not required.

MR. LYLE:  And can you explain why it's not required, in your view?

MR. FISHER:  Well, essentially, the reservoir, at 1100 pounds, it's exactly the same as a propane tank for your barbeque.  It's a high-pressure instrument that is venting to a low-pressure system.  In the case of your barbeque, it's atmosphere.  The FHG pipeline will always be lower in pressure than the pool, and we won't withdraw below 300 pounds.

So at the tail-end of the withdrawal cycle, I believe the pressure in the Union system will be 2, 250 pounds, something like that.  So we will not need to ever compress it.  We just open a valve, and it flows out, same as the barbecue.

MR. LYLE:  And can you ensure withdrawal on a peak day just relying on that difference in pressure, without compression?

MR. FISHER:  The way - and it's been an iterative approach - the way that this pool will operate is, we'll  be -- it’s like a bike tire.  You put your finger on the valve, and initially it comes out with full pressure, it's blowing real hard, and then, at the end, it's just zzzz, right?  When we are withdrawing the first month, that will be during peak demand on Union's system.  So we'll line up the withdrawal window maximum mobility with Union's peak day, within a month or so.

Did I answer your question?

MR. LYLE:  Yes, you did.

And I want to turn you just briefly, then, to address some of the economics of this project and how it’s impacted by the proposed rate of Union.

Turning to you, Mr. Fisher, to your pre-filed evidence, and right at the bottom of page 2 -- at the top of page 3 of that document, you reference a 60 cents a gigajoule spread.

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. LYLE:  And I take it -- is that the spread between summer gas and winter gas?

MR. FISHER:  Yes.

MR. LYLE:  And if you were to -- just so we get a sense of the magnitude of this operation, if you were to calculate your total spread over your entire volumes, roughly what's the quantity we're talking about, in dollars?

MR. FISHER:  The amount of the differential, you mean?

MR. LYLE:  The amount of the differential on your total volumes, that's right.  60 cents a gigajoule, if you're talking about all your gigajoules?

MR. FISHER:  It would be 60 cents.

MR. LYLE:  No, but turn it into a global figure across your entire operation.

MR. FISHER:  I'm not sure what you mean by "entire operation."  In Tribute resources?

MR. LYLE:  I'm talking about this specific pool.

MR. FISHER:  I believe that there will be 1.8 Bcf.  I'll buy it in the summer and sell it in the winter.  And the difference in cost will be 60 cents.

MR. LYLE:  But how many gJs?  We're talking -- are we talking about?  I believe it's probably in the neighbourhood of 1.5 million to 1.7 million gJs, that sort of thing –

MR. FISHER:  Yeah, roughly 2 million gJs.

MR. LYLE:   Okay.  And if you were to turn that into dollars, then, at 60 cents a gJ, your global spread is about a million or 1.2 million?

MR. FISHER: Yeah.  Sure.

MR. LYLE:   A million to 1.2 million.  So that's kind of the total margin that you have to work with in this operation, is that –

MR. FISHER:  Yeah, and just to make it clear -- you know, Bob and I discuss other things and the value storage is one of them.

Currently, I can probably sell storage in Ontario for a dollar, for this summer, with this winter.  The following year, it's 80 cents.  I can say I've never seen storage values as high, and I don't believe they're going to be sustained, but I could be completely wrong.  But right now, based on historical information, we believe that we'll be able to get 60 cents as a sort of starting point.  We hope to get better.


MR. LYLE:  And out of that spread, you've got to cover off your operating costs?


MR. FISHER:  Absolutely.


MR. LYLE:  And the costs of financing your debt, as well?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.


MR. LYLE:  And you're hoping to make a profit out of that, as well?


MR. FISHER:  Yeah.


MR. LYLE:  Those are all my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. FISHER:  Can I add to that?


MR. LYLE:  Certainly.


MR. FISHER:  I apologize for not being polished and all that kind of stuff, but when I'm talking at the lunchroom in Alberta, I represent what's going on here as being a key issue.  I think that this 10, 20 cent rate -- it will be 20 cents when we have to do our balancing and everything.  We can't just go and flow exactly to the contract.  It's a third of the spread value that I see there, a third at, from my point of view, a cost of zero.  


I put it to the Board -- and Peter is going to give me crap when we walk out of here.  I put it to the Board that, you know, we've got to decide if we want to build this stuff, because from my point of view, if we leave the rate the way it is, I'm going to tell Jane, Don't build it.  Sorry.  I just -- 20 cents out of 60, you know, and we've got a lot of other risks in there, obviously, to manage.  


But I'm putting my foot in it and I should shut up, but I really think that this is a critical issue for the economics of all storage development, not just this pool.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Fisher.  The Board has some questions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. NOWINA:  Yeah, I have a question.  Mr. Knecht, your evidence has been focussed on the firm rate that Union has been proposing.  Have you considered the appropriateness of the interruptible rate that they've proposed for M16 customers east of Dawn?


MR. KNECHT:  Yes.  In one of the interrogatory responses ‑‑ let me turn it up.


I believe it's Union‑Tribute 6.  And my response there was that if -- as a general rule, firm service attracts higher rates than interruptible service and that if the Board deems that a value‑of‑service charge should be imposed of up to 2.5 cents, that some discount from that would be reasonable for interruptible service.  


Certainly you want to set interruptible service.  The floor for it is the short‑run variable costs of providing that service. 


So that it seemed to me that if you did have a value‑of‑service charge, one of the things, if you wanted to offer both firm and interruptible service, you could impose a value‑of‑service charge for firm and none for interruptible, or half of that for interruptible.  I don't have a specific proposal, other than maybe half seemed about right.


Mr. Fisher may comment on whether or not interruptible service would work for an embedded storage developer such as Tribute, if I can dish it over to him.  It may not be a service that has -- it may not be a service that has tremendous value.


MR. FISHER:  From my point of view, call it what you want.  This is an interruptible service, period.  We're using pipe that's empty.  And if for whatever reason Union has to call on it one day in the summer to serve a customer, there's no doubt in my mind they'll cut, regardless of what my contract says.  So I believe that the service is using empty space.  It, by definition, is interruptible, and I believe the value of both should be zero, and not ‑‑ people won't agree with me, but ...


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fisher.


MR. VLAHOS:  Gentlemen, just a couple of questions.


Mr. Knecht, I just want to make sure I understand where you ended up with the exchange with Ms. Paulus on the two different levels of service, a firm and interruptible.  And based on your proposal, then you end up with the same rate.  I'm just not sure what the resolution from ‑‑ in your mind ...


MR. KNECHT:  Let me answer it clearly.  What I said it here in this interrogatory response is, I think, the best thing that I would propose.


If a demand ‑‑ if the Board determined that a value‑of‑service charge is required or would be a useful component of this rate, then you would set the interruptible rate at 1 ‑‑ the interruptible value‑of‑service at one-half that level.


If, in fact, you don't impose a value‑of‑service charge, then I would set the firm rate the same as the interruptible rate, which represents the allocated variable costs of service.


MR. VLAHOS:  So why wouldn't I want to sign up for firm service every time?


MR. KNECHT:  I think you would sign up for firm service every time.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it's pretty academic, then, isn't it?


MR. KNECHT:  It is academic if you decide not to impose a value‑of‑service charge.


If you impose a value‑of‑service charge, then you have some room within the constraints of making sure you cover variable costs and the rates to provide for the difference.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


Just lastly, the thrust of your evidence is that we've got to look at storage as a comparator to Union's storage, which is sort of a novel approach that you bring to today.


I was just wondering whether the storage by the ‑‑ the incremental storage, what's before the Board, you know, now, in the next year or over the years to come, whether the use of that storage is the same as the storage of an old, established distributor like Union.  Is it the same use of that storage?


I heard today that, you know, you can take that gas and sell it at Dawn, at a profit.  So what's your views on that, Mr. Knecht?


MR. KNECHT:  I think that in the long term, that if these things are developed, that you will see a convergence.  Right now the services look different.  Union's storage is designed to serve in‑franchise customers, embedded storage operators who are looking to develop ‑‑ are looking for a different business model.  And that, I think, arises because of Union's description that it has storage capacity available and it doesn't need it now for in‑franchise customers.


But as we move down the road and load continues to grow, however it does grow, increasingly, to the extent these things are developed, they will be integrated into the system and that it will be harder to distinguish embedded storage from Union storage.


So I guess I agree that right now they look like different models, but that over the longer term it would come together.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you, sir, for that.  Mr. Budd, any redirect?


MR. BUDD:  No, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you very much, Panel.  You're excused.


MR. KNECHT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Surprise, surprise.  We finished in one day.  Okay, so argument.  Mr. Smith, I'm looking to ‑‑


MR. SMITH:  Tomorrow at 1 o'clock.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  You're ahead of me.  It is conventional, and it's your legal right, to have argument in‑chief, followed by arguments by intervenors, to be followed by reply argument.  So I'm obliged to make the offer of foregoing argument in‑chief.  Totally your call.  You would rather go with the norm or ...


MR. SMITH:  I'd prefer to go with argument in‑chief.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And then?


MR. SMITH:  And then have the intervenors respond and I'll make a reply.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Then two options.  One is we resume tomorrow -- and the other parties don't have to come because they can receive the transcript.  We receive your oral argument tomorrow, and then the parties come in --everyone comes in on Thursday morning to hear submissions by intervenors, to be followed by yourself after a reasonable break.  So that's one option.  You come in tomorrow, and then we'll resume again on Thursday to finish it off.


Alternatively, we can just come one time, Thursday.  You start off with argument in-chief.  We have intervenors' argument, and then your reply.  Your thoughts on that?

Sorry.  Third option -- I'm reminded, a third option:  we can do what I’ve suggested for Thursday tomorrow.

MR. SMITH:  Actually, that is my preference.  I think, given how quickly we were able to get through the evidence today, Mr. Chair, that we will be able to go through all three components, as it were, argument in-chief, response by the intervenors, and a reply, tomorrow afternoon.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yeah.

MR. SMITH:  I don't expect that I would be - famous last words - more than an hour.  But -- I might be a bit more than that, but I certainly think that we can all be done by 4:30 tomorrow.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's one of my concerns, whether it's enough time tomorrow.  But if we are all willing to stick it out until we finish, then that will be fine, as well.

How about the other parties, what do they feel?

Mr. Budd?

MR. BUDD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Having heard your several alternatives, I think certainly our preference is to go orally.  And if we could hear from Union in-chief tomorrow afternoon, particularly if the argument's going to be an hour or longer in length, I'd like the opportunity to consider that with my clients, come back on Thursday - the interveners - first thing in the morning, even, if that's what the Board would like to do.  Then we would do our arguments orally, as well, on Thursday.

MR. SMITH:  That I'm not as open to.  I'd prefer not to go Wednesday -- I'd prefer not to rush myself, go Wednesday, finish at 2, then have to come back on Thursday.  It seems more efficient that if we're going to do what Mr. Budd wants to do, that we take tomorrow off and we roll right through it on Thursday, would be my suggestion.

MR. VLAHOS:  Any other comments?

MS. PAULUS:  From Northern Cross's perspective, we would be prepared to continue on Wednesday until completed.  I can appreciate from Union's perspective that to give the intervenors the extra day is a difficulty.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Chairman, I think I am channelling Mr. Kaiser here, but I would prefer to go tomorrow  afternoon, following Union, if that is possible, in oral argument.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Anybody else?

MR. DEROSE:  I would prefer to go tomorrow afternoon, as well.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Lyle, I take it you have no view on  this?  You'll be here in any event.

MR. LYLE:  I will be, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Just a minute, please.

[The Board confers]

The Panel has considered the options and it is our preference that we continue tomorrow at 1 o'clock to hear argument in-chief, to be followed by intervenors' argument and then reply argument, and to finish in that one day.  And I guess the court reporter is put on notice that it may take us longer - hopefully not - than a typical 5 o'clock, or maybe not.

Any other matters, Mr. Lyle, before we adjourn until then?

There is the question of the undertaking, I guess -- the response to the undertaking.  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman, I'm just getting an update from my client.

I understand that we're not in a position to answer it now.  I also understand from my client that they're reasonably confident they will have it by first thing in the morning, at which point we will circulate it electronically.  We'll circulate it by e-mail.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sounds good.

Okay.  We stand adjourned until tomorrow, 1 o'clock.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:32 p.m.
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